

RHINOLOGY

Official Journal of the European and International Societies

VOLUME 63 | SUPPLEMENT 35 | AUGUST 2025

Olfactory implants: international opinion paper on emerging technologies and clinical applications

K.L. Whitcroft, A.K. Hernandez, P. Andrews,
A. Altundag, H. Benkhatar, M. Bensafi,
C. Boëx, F. Calegari, D.H. Coelho,
R.M. Costanzo, V. Druet, W. Esposito, A. Perez
Fornos, S. Gane, C. A. Hintschich,
E.H. Holbrook, J. Hsieh, C. Huart,
M. Kobayashi, I Konstantinidis, S.P. Lacour,
B.N. Landis, C.S.S. Lipp, A. Macchi, C. Mignot,
E. Mori, T. Myuran, H. Nishijima, Z.M. Patel, C.
Philpott, D. Podlesek, W. Polanski,
R.M. Richardson, P. Rombaux, P. Senn,
R. Sipione, S. Weise, T. Hummel





RHINOLOGY

Official Journal of the European and International Rhinologic Societies

Editor-in-Chief Prof W.J. Fokkens

Associate Editors

Prof B.N. Landis Prof S. Reitsma Prof S.K. Toppila-Salmi Prof A.R. Sedaghat Prof M. Soyka

Managing Editor

Dr. W.T.V. Germeraad

Editorial Assistant and Rhinology Secretary

Mrs. J. Kosman Mrs. J. Keslere assistant@rhinology.org

Graphical design

Ms. E. Lowes graphics@rhinology.com

Webmaster

Prof D. Barać rhinologywebmaster@gmail.com

Address

Journal Rhinology, c/o AMC, Mrs. J. Kosman / A2-234, PO Box 22 660, 1100 DD Amsterdam, the Netherlands. Tel: +31-20-566 4534 Fax: +31-20-566 9662 E-mail: assistant@rhinology.org Website: www.rhinologyjournal.com

Rhinology (ISSN 0300-0729) is the official Journal of the European and International Rhinologic Societies and appears bimonthly in February, April, June, August, October and December. Cited in Pubmed, Current Contents, Index Medicus, Exerpta Medica and Embase.

Founded in 1963 by H.A.E. van Dishoeck, Rhinology is a worldwide non-profit making journal. The journal publishes original papers on basic research as well as clinical studies in the major field of *rhinology*, including physiology, diagnostics, pathology, immunology, medical therapy and surgery of both the nose and paranasal sinuses. Review articles and short communications are also pulished, but no Case reports. All papers are peer-reviewed. Letters-to-the-editor provide a forum for comments on published papers, and are not subject to editorial revision except for correction of English language.

In-depth studies that are too long to be included into a regular issue can be published as a supplement. Supplements are not subject to peer-review.

© Rhinology, 2025.

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means electronic or mechanical, including photocopying, recording or any information storage and retrieval system without prior permission in writing from the Publisher.

Submission of a manuscript for publication implies the transfer of the copyright from the author(s) to the publisher and entails the author's irrevocable and exclusive authorization of the publisher to collect any sums or considerations for copying or reproduction payable by third parties.

Olfactory implants: international opinion paper on emerging technologies and clinical applications

Katherine L. Whitcroft^{1,2,3}, Anna Kristina Hernandez^{1,4,5}, Peter Andrews^{2,6}, Aytug Altundag⁷, Hakim Benkhatar⁸, Moustafa Bensafi⁹, Colette Boëx¹⁰, Federico Calegari¹¹, Daniel H. Coelho¹², Richard M. Costanzo¹³, Victor Druet¹⁴, https://doi.org/10.4193/Rhino24.523 William Esposito¹⁵, Angelica Perez Fornos¹⁶, Simon Gane^{6,17,18}, Constantin A. Hintschich^{19,20}, Eric H. Holbrook²¹, Julien Hsieh²², Caroline Huart^{23,24}, Masayoshi Kobayashi²⁵, lordanis Konstantinidis²⁶, Stéphanie P. Lacour¹⁴, Basile N. Landis²², Clémentine Sophie Sarah Lipp²⁷, Alberto Macchi²⁸, Coralie Mignot¹, Eri Mori²⁹, Tharsika Myuran³⁰, Hironobu Nishijima³¹, Zara M. Patel³², Carl Philpott³⁰, Dino Podlesek³³, Witold Polanski³³, Robert M. Richardson³⁴, Philippe Rombaux²³, Pascal Senn²², Rebecca Sipione³⁵, Susanne Weise¹, Thomas Hummel¹

Rhinology Supplement 35, 1 - 38, 2025

*Received for publication:

December 4, 2024 Accepted: April 4, 2025

Associate Editor: Michael Soyka

¹ Smell & Taste Clinic, Department of Otorhinolaryngology, Faculty of Medicine Carl Gustav Carus, Technische Universität Dresden, Dresden, Germany

² UCL Ear Institute, University College London, London, UK

³ Sheffield Children's NHS Foundation Trust, Sheffield, UK

⁴ Department of Otolaryngology – Head and Neck Surgery, Philippine General Hospital, University of the Philippines – Manila, Manila, Philippines

⁵ Department of Otolaryngology – Head and Neck Surgery, Asian Hospital and Medical Center, Muntinlupa, Philippines

⁶ Department of Rhinology and Facial Plastic Surgery, Royal National ENT and Eastman Dental Hospitals, University College London Hospitals, London, UK

⁷ Otorhinolaryngology Department, Biruni University Medical School, Istanbul, Turkey

⁸ Centre Hospitalier de Versailles, Service d'ORL et Chirurgie Cervico-Faciale, Le Chesnay-Rocquencourt, France

⁹ Université Claude Bernard Lyon 1, CNRS, INSERM, Centre de Recherche en Neurosciences de Lyon CRNL UMR5292, Bron, France

¹⁰ Department of Neurosurgery, Geneva University Hospitals, Geneva, Switzerland

¹¹ Proliferation and Differentiation of Neural Stem Cells, Center for Regenerative Therapies Dresden (CRTD), Technische Universität Dresden, Dresden, Germany

¹² Department of Otolaryngology - Head & Neck Surgery, Neurosurgery, Biophysics & Physiology; Virginia Commonwealth University School of Medicine, Richmond, VA, USA

¹³ Department of Physiology and Biophysics, and Otolaryngology - Head and Neck Surgery, Virginia Commonwealth University School of Medicine, Richmond, VA, USA

14 Laboratory for Soft Bioelectronic Interfaces, Neuro-X Institute, École Polytechnique Fédérale de Lausanne (EPFL), Geneva, Switzerland

¹⁵ Institute of Materials, École Polytechnique Fédérale de Lausanne, Lausanne, Switzerland

¹⁶ Department of Clinical Neurosciences, Geneva University Hospitals, Geneva, Switzerland

¹⁷ Moorfields Eve Hospital, London, UK

¹⁸ Research Fellow Centre for the Study of the Senses, University of London, UK

¹⁹ Department of Otorhinolaryngology, Regensburg University Hospital, Regensburg, Germany

²⁰ Department of Ophthalmology, University Hospital of Munich (LMU), Munich, Germany

²¹ Department of Otolaryngology-Head and Neck Surgery, Massachusetts Eye and Ear, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, USA

²² Rhinology-Olfactory Unit, Department of Otorhinolaryngology - Head and Neck Surgery, Geneva University Hospitals, Geneva, Switzerland

- ²³ Department of Otorhinolaryngology Head and Neck Surgery, Cliniques Universitaires Saint-Luc, Brussels, Belgium
- ²⁴ Institute of Neuroscience, Catholic University of Louvain (UCLouvain), Brussels, Belgium
- ²⁵ Department of Otorhinolaryngology-Head and Neck Surgery, Mie University Graduate School of Medicine, Tsu, Japan
- ²⁶ 2nd Academic ORL Department, Aristotle University of Thessaloniki, Papageorgiou Hospital, Thessaloniki, Greece
- ²⁷ Microsystems Laboratory, Institute of Microengineering, École Polytechnique Fédérale de Lausanne, Lausanne, Switzerland
- 28 ENT Department High Specialization Smell and Taste Pathology, ASST Sette Laghi and UPLOAD Research Center, University of Insubria, Varese, Italy
- ²⁹ Department of Otorhinolaryngology, Jikei University School of Medicine, Tokyo, Japan
- ³⁰ Rhinology and Olfactology Research Group, Norwich Medical School, University of East Anglia, Norwich, UK
- ³¹ Department of Otorhinolaryngology and Head and Neck Surgery, The University of Tokyo, Tokyo, Japan
- ³² Department of Otolaryngology Head and Neck Surgery, Stanford University, Stanford, CA, USA
- ³³ Department of Neurosurgery, University Hospital Carl Gustav Carus, Technische Universität Dresden, Dresden, Germany
- ³⁴ Department of Neurosurgery, Mass General Brigham, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA , USA
- ³⁵ The Inner Ear and Olfaction Lab, Department of Pathology and Immunology, Faculty of Medicine, University of Geneva, Geneva, Switzerland

ORCID IDs

Katherine L. Whitcroft 0000-0002-1417-0049 Anna Kristina Hernandez 0000-0001-6711-7359 Peter Andrews 0000-0001-5731-3276 Aytug Altundag 0000-0003-0794-5050 Hakim Benkhatar 0000-0002-8623-8882 Moustafa Bensafi 0000-0002-2991-3036 Colette Boëx 0000-0002-9374-4791 Federico Calegari 0000-0002-3703-2802 Daniel H. Coelho 0000-0001-6485-2075 Richard M. Costanzo 0000-0002-6839-3520 Victor Druet 0000-0003-3228-9323 William Esposito 0000-0002-7682-4933 Angelica Perez Fornos 0000-0003-3911-8826 Simon Gane 0000-0002-0356-8190 Constantin A. Hintschich 0000-0002-5500-600X Eric H. Holbrook 0000-0002-7632-2204 Julien Hsieh 0000-0001-7675-1239 Caroline Huart 0000-0001-9763-1981 Masayoshi Kobayashi 0000-0002-7133-1785

lordanis Konstantinidis 0000-0002-9244-464X Stéphanie P. Lacour 0000-0001-9075-4022 Basile N. Landis 0000-0001-6034-3724 Clémentine Sophie Sarah Lipp 0000-0002-7361-1385 Alberto Macchi 0000-0002-5239-9178 Coralie Mignot 0000-0002-4763-7186 Eri Mori 0000-0003-3273-3789 Tharsika Myuran 0000-0002-4895-5530 Hironobu Nishijima 0000-0001-9056-9900 Zara M. Patel 0000-0003-2072-982X Carl Philpott 0000-0002-1125-3236 Dino Podlesek 0000-0001-5518-6496 Witold Polanski 0000-0002-6603-5375 Robert M. Richardson 0000-0003-2620-7387 Philippe Rombaux 0000-0001-8262-2775 Pascal Senn 0000-0002-4619-3341 Rebecca Sipione 0000-0002-4195-6725 Susanne Weise 0000-0001-7650-1731 Thomas Hummel 0000-0001-9713-0183

Abstracts

Abstract

Olfactory dysfunction affects a large proportion of the general population and causes significant personal and societal burden. At present, there are limited treatment options available. Though as yet experimental and untested in people, olfactory implants are a novel form of neuroprosthesis, modelled on existing implants for other sensory deficits such as hearing loss. Advances in this field have been rapid, yet there have been no unified efforts to collate current knowledge or guide such advances towards maximum patient benefit. In this Opinion Paper, leaders in the field have come together to provide an overview of current and emerging knowledge and technology relating to olfactory implants. In an effort to guide innovation towards maximum patient benefit, we also provide expert agreed statements on theoretical clinical aspects of olfactory implantation, including patient selection, implantation sites and potential complications, as well as post-implantation support requirements. Technical aspects will be discussed, with a clinical, device orientated focus. Finally, the ethics of olfactory implantation will be considered. We hope this document will serve as a useful roadmap to guide future clinical and basic research in the field.

Key words: Olfaction, anosmia, hyposmia, olfactory implant, neuroproesthesis



Contents

Abstracts	3
Abbreviations	5
Summary of statements	6
Introduction	8
What: a brief introduction to olfactory implants	9
Why: broad aims of olfactory implantation	10
Overview of document	10
Methodology	11
Olfactory implantation: clinical considerations and patient candidacy	11
Background: what is olfaction and olfactory dysfunction	11
The ideal patient for olfactory implantation	12
Diagnosis of olfactory dysfunction and pre-implantation assessment	15
Imaging	15
Treatment of olfactory dysfunction prior to consideration of olfactory implantation	15
Pre-implantation counselling	16
Pre-operative assessment and possible contraindications	16
Operative risks	17
Post-implantation	17
Implants and stimulation: technology, techniques and potential pitfalls	19
Stimulation targets	19
Which electrodes?	25
Where to place an energy source	27
Ethics of olfactory implantation	28
Conclusions	29
References	31
Appendices	36
Appendix 1. More information on deep brain stimulation	36
Appendix 2. Brain stimulation devices	37

Abbreviations

AP	Action potential
CRS	Chronic Rhinosinusitis
CSF	Cerebrospinal Fluid
DBS	Deep Brain Stimulation
ECoG	Electrocorticography
ENT	Ear Nose Throat (Otolaryngology)
OB	Olfactory Bulb
OD	Olfactory Dysfunction
OE	Olfactory epithelium
OFC	Orbitofrontal Cortex
OI	Olfactory Implant
OSN	Olfactory Sensory Neuron
OT	Olfactory training
PC	Piriform Cortex
PIOD	Post-infectious Olfactory Dysfunction
PTOD	Post-traumatic Olfactory Dysfunction
sEEG	Stereo-electro-encephalography
SND	Sinonasal Disease

Summary of statements

Below is a summary of the statements contained within this document, and their associated Delphi outcome.

Statement 1:

1. Factors to consider regarding eligibility for olfactory implant (OI), include:

1.1. The degree of olfactory loss

• Delphi result: Agreed (score 7-9 = 100%, mean score 8.8) 1.2. Cause of olfactory loss

• Delphi result: Agreed (score 7-9 = 89.5%, mean score 8.2)

1.3. Duration of olfactory loss

• Delphi result: Agreed (score 7-9 = 87%, mean score 7.9)

1.4. Patients' age / cognitive function

• Delphi result: Agreed (score 7-9 = 73.7%, mean score 7.6) 1.5. Volume of the olfactory bulb (OB) (particularly where the OB is stimulation target)

• Delphi result: No consensus (score 7-9 = 68.4%, 1-3 =

13.2%, mean score 7.03)

1.6. Expectations and motivation of patient

• Delphi result: Agreed (score 7-9 = 97.4%, mean score 8.5) 1.7. Socioeconomic support system to allow for post-operative olfactory rehabilitation

• Delphi result: Agreed (score 7-9 = 92.1%, mean score 7.8)

Statement 2:

2. Patients being considered for OIs should undergo full clinical and psychophysical assessment in line with current guidelines. In brief, this should include:

2.1. Standard, detailed clinical history – with particular focus on establishing underlying cause of olfactory dysfunction (OD)

• Delphi result: Agreed (score 7-9 = 100%, mean score 8.9) 2.2. Subjective olfactory assessment, ideally to include a validated questionnaire (e.g., Questionnaire of Olfactory Dysfunction) or other recognised form of subjective assessment (e.g. visual analogue scale [VAS]). Identification of parosmia is important, as this may be associated with higher rates of spontaneous recovery

• Delphi result: Agreed (score 7-9 = 89.5%, mean score 8.4) 2.3. Full ear, nose, and throat (ENT) examination, including nasal endoscopy, with careful inspection of the olfactory cleft as anatomical variations may complicate potential electrode placement

• Delphi result: Agreed (score 7-9 = 97.4%, mean score 8.8) 2.4. Psychophysical assessment using a tool that has been validated for the target population and allows categorisation of severity. Ideally, this should test odour threshold and identification or discrimination.

• Delphi result: Agreed (score 7-9 = 92.1%, mean score 8.6) 2.5. Screening for cognitive impairment and psychiatric conditions. Patients with positive screening tests should undergo further assessment.

• Delphi result: Agreed (score 7-9 = 89.5%, mean score 8.3)

Statement 3:

 Patients being considered for Ols should undergo
 CT of the nose, paranasal sinuses and anterior cranial fossa to delineate bony anatomy.

• Delphi result: Agreed (score 7-9 = 97.4%, mean score 8.7) 3.2. High resolution magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) to cover the OBs, primary and secondary olfactory networks to delineate normal and abnormal anatomy and suitability for implantation.

• Delphi result: Agreed (score 7-9 = 94.7%, mean score 8.7) 3.3. Angiography to delineate associated vascular structures at risk of injury during implantation.

• Delphi result: No consensus (score 7-9 = 55.3%, 1-3 = 13.2%, mean score 6.6)

Statement 4:

4. All patients should have tried and failed existing treatments in line with current guidelines.

4.1. In all patients except those with sinonasal disease (SND), this should include an extended period of olfactory training (≥3 months).

• Delphi result: Agreed (score 7-9 = 92.1%, mean score 8.4) 4.2. In suspected SND/idiopathic OD, a trial of systemic/intranasal corticoste roids (with appropriate choice of intranasal delivery system) \pm nasal surgery should be considered.

• Delphi result: Agreed (score 7-9 = 94.7%, mean score 8.1)

Statement 5:

5. All patients being considered for OI candidacy should undergo a period of multidisciplinary pre-implantation counselling.

• Delphi result: Agreed (score 7-9 = 92.1%, mean score 8.2)

Statement 6:

6. Thorough pre-operative assessment should be undertaken in all patients in whom OI candidacy is considered.

6.1. Absolute and relative contraindications can only be fully defined once device specifics are known, but are likely to include significant co-morbidity, blood dyscrasias and unfavourable anatomy. More generally, individual patient factors should be considered when weighing potential benefits

versus risks of implantation.

• Delphi result: Agreed (score 7-9 = 92.1%, mean score 8.3) 6.2. To mitigate the risk of complications patients should undergo thorough pre-operative assessment/investigation, and surgery should be undertaken by experienced surgeons.

• Delphi result: Agreed (score 7-9 = 100%, mean score 8.8) 6.3. Future studies, prototypes, or simulations should inform future surgical planning to minimise risk of complications and optimise outcomes.

• Delphi result: Agreed (score 7-9 = 94.7%, mean score 8.5)

Statement 7:

7. Patients should undergo a structured programme of olfactory rehabilitation post implantation

7.1. This should include device programming with initial 'safety' odours, followed by commonly encountered odours.

• Delphi result: Agreed (score 7-9 = 94.7%, mean score 8.2) 7.2. Patients should receive multi-disciplinary support during this time.

• Delphi result: Agreed (score 7-9 = 97%, mean score 8.6) 7.3. Standardised outcome measure should be collected at regular post-implantation intervals, including psychophysical tests, patient-reported outcome measures, and tests for cognition/depression.

• Delphi result: Agreed (score 7-9 = 97%, mean score 8.8) 7.4. Complications monitoring including, where indicated, CT scans should be undertaken at regular post-implantation intervals where indicated.

• Delphi result: Agreed (score 7-9 = 81.6%, mean score 7.9) 7.5. Standardised database reporting should be undertaken for safety, and ideally outcomes assessment including a position map of odours for possible optimization of electrode position.

• Delphi result: Agreed (score 7-9 = 97%, mean score 8.5)

Statement 8:

8. Efficacy of stimulated olfactory perception and impact of OD pathophysiology should be taken into account when considering potential stimulation sites:

8.1. Olfactory epithelium: only limited work has shown successful olfactory perception following electrical stimulation. Inter-individual variation in distribution, and potential histological damage associated with OD, complicates stimulation at this site.

• Delphi result: Agreed (score 7-9 = 84.2%, mean score 7.7) 8.2. OB: work in animals and humans has demonstrated activation of the olfactory system following electrical stimulation. Glomerular 'mapping' in humans, and its degree of stereotypy, is at present unknown. Variations in size and shape associated with OD should be kept in mind when considering stimulation in this site. • Delphi result: Agreed (score 7-9 = 94.7%, mean score 8.3) 8.3. Central olfactory networks: some work has demonstrated olfactory perception following stimulation of upstream structures, though with low response rates. Central stimulation may be favourable in patients with significant damage to the OB. The multi-modal nature of central structures should be kept in mind when considering the efficacy of stimulated olfactory perception and potential side-effects.

• Delphi result: Agreed (score 7-9 = 97%, mean score 8.3)

Statement 9:

9. Regarding OI electrodes and stimulation paradigm:

9.1. Where the OB is target, ideally, the device should be able to connect a high-density microelectrode array of electrodes to address single glomeruli, should be flexible and small, for transcranial or transcribriform approaches, and is easily deployed and secured around the OB.

• Delphi result: Agreed (score 7-9 = 89.5%, mean score 8.1) 9.2. Where higher order olfactory structures are the target, currently available stimulation systems include depth electrodes (deep brain stimulation [DBS]), microelectrodes, and electrocorticography (ECoG) devices, which require different surgical approaches.

• Delphi result: Agreed (score 7-9 = 92.1%, mean score 8.3) 9.3. Ongoing research should address: the prolongation of microelectrode lifespan (through the lowering of electrode impedance and the use of novel material for electrodes and encapsulation); the reduction of foreign body reaction (matching the mechanical stiffness of conformal implants to the surrounding tissues and minimizing the electrode footprint); determining best method of implantation (single glomeruli, whole OB surface).

• Delphi result: Agreed (score 7-9 = 100%, mean score 8.6) 9.3.1. Active surveillance for complications secondary to persistent neurochemical, histological, and behavioural modifications resulting from electrode implantation should be undertaken.

• Delphi result: Agreed (score 7-9 = 100%, mean score 8.7) 9.4. Stimulation timing, sequence of oscillations and potential multiplicity of target site require further study, e.g., respiration-triggered sequences of oscillations aligned with specific time-locked electrical stimulation may best evoke reproducible olfactory precepts.

• Delphi result: Agreed (score 7-9 = 84.2%, mean score 8.0)

Statement 10:

10. The ethical implications of OI should be considered during research and development stages, as well as at the point of clinical application.

10.1. Patients should be consulted during the research/development phase to help inform device priorities.

Whitcroft et al.

• Delphi result: Agreed (score 7-9 = 94.7%, mean score 8.6) 10.2. Standardized database reporting of surgical and device/ treatment related complications should be undertaken.

• Delphi result: Agreed (score 7-9 = 100%, mean score 8.8) 10.3. Possibility of planned explantation of the device should be considered.

• Delphi result: Agreed (score 7-9 = 100%, mean score 8.7)

Introduction

The human sense of smell is important. Intact olfaction is required to guide nutrition, environmental hazard avoidance and social communication ⁽¹⁾. Accordingly, its dysfunction is linked with decreased quality of life, causing clinical depression in up to one third of patients ⁽²⁾. Moreover, olfactory dysfunction (OD) is linked with important healthcare outcomes, including neurodegeneration and death ⁽³⁾. The personal impact of OD is therefore significant.

Prior to the global COVID-19 pandemic, the estimated population prevalence of OD was 22% ⁽²⁻⁵⁾, of whom approximately 5% experience complete or near complete loss (anosmia). Different strains of SARS-CoV-2 have caused variable degrees of associated intercurrent acute and post-infectious dysfunction, meaning the true population prevalence of OD is dynamically evolving, and likely higher than these pre-pandemic figures. Nevertheless, using pre-pandemic estimates as a minimum, the societal burden of OD is significant – with anosmia being more common than profound deafness or blindness ⁽⁵⁾.

Despite this, prior to the pandemic, clinical and research interest in OD lagged behind other sensory impairments; total publications are fewer in olfaction compared with other senses (Pub-Med listings as of October 16, 2024: Vision – 267,787; Hearing – 173,941; Olfaction – 35,567) and the first Nobel Prize in this field was awarded to Linda Buck and Richard Axel in 2004 ⁽⁶⁾. Accordingly, intervention options for olfactory impairment are limited, particularly when compared to sensory impairments such as vision or hearing. In the latter, amplification technologies are commonplace: approximately 2 million people in the UK use hearing aids ⁽⁶⁾, and those with more significant or complex hearing loss may have access to implanted prostheses, including bone anchored hearing aids, middle ear implants, cochlear implants and auditory brainstem implants. Almost three quarters of the UK adult population wear corrective lenses for refractive visual impairment. Approximately 10 million cataract operations are performed globally each year (7,8). Visual prostheses are also an area of active research - with various ongoing projects targeting different sites along the visual pathway (from retina to visual cortex) ⁽⁹⁾. Though much less common than cochlear implants, several retinal implants have received regulatory approval for use in patients.

Whilst the technology for detection of environmental odours exists, as does that required for electrical stimulation along the olfactory pathway – a unified olfactory implant (OI) is a relatively novel idea, with the first patent in this field being awarded to Costanzo and Coelho in 2016 (Figure 1) ⁽⁷⁾. With the recent SARS-CoV2 pandemic-driven interest in OD, subsequent progress has, however, been rapid, with different international projects bringing experts in the field together.

What: a brief introduction to olfactory implants

Putative Ols are currently modelled on neuroprostheses in other sensory modalities. In hearing, vision or the vestibular sense, such devices are structured around two components: first, sensors that can detect environmental stimuli (sounds, visual images, movements; odorant molecules for olfaction); second, processors and stimulators that translate this information into electrical impulses, which can be interpreted by the brain. In olfaction, the historical development of these two basic components, or modules, took place independently, in fields of research that rarely or never intersected.

The sensor module was first conceptualised by Persaud and Dodd in 1982⁽⁸⁾, who demonstrated that a network of electronic chemosensory sensors can be used to discriminate between simple and complex odours. These initial efforts sparked a series of projects, ultimately leading to the development of several types of artificial noses for applications in environmental monitoring, healthcare diagnostics, food quality control and safety. Typically, these sensors consist of a set of units that interact with volatile molecules carried by an air source (9,10). Depending on the system, these sensors have traditionally comprised materials such as metal/oxide semiconductors, catalytic gases, solid electrolyte gases, polymers, or optical devices. Whilst such sensors vary in form and dimension depending on the technology used, sizes small enough to be contained within 'wearable' devices have already been achieved ⁽¹¹⁾. With advancing technology, more ecological 'bioelectric noses' have been developed, whereby the sensor contains specific olfactory receptors. Reaction of odorants with these receptor(s) results in signal generation, which is then transduced and processed for

Hand-drawn sketch of putative olfactory implant

Invention Notebook 1D, p87 (14 Dec 1998)

Costanzo, Virainia Commonwealth University

pattern recognition, which allows visualization of results based on a given classification system – whose accuracy and reliability depend on the quality and comprehensiveness of the data used to train the device ⁽¹²⁾. In 2006, olfactory cell-based biosensors were developed, incorporating a system of microelectrodes to measure extracellular membrane potential changes generated by the interaction of olfactory receptors with odorants ⁽¹³⁾. More recently, nanovesicles, created from cells or proteins related to signal transmission, have been used to replicate receptor-mediated signal transmission as observed in the human olfactory system ⁽¹⁴⁾. For a more comprehensive overview of the history and development of bioelectronic noses, please refer to recent articles ^(12,15).

Regarding the neural stimulation module, knowledge in this field is limited, and has been generated largely by the neuroscientific community. In 1954, Penfield and Jasper demonstrated olfactory perception following electrical stimulation of the olfactory bulbs (OBs) of patients with epilepsy ⁽¹⁶⁾. Following on from this, olfactory perception has also been demonstrated through electrical stimulation of other sites, including the olfactory epithelium, and upstream structures of the central olfactory networks. Each of the approaches described have their own associated advantages and disadvantages, and the success of their resultant olfactory perception appears dependent not just on stimulation target, but also on other aspects of the stimulation paradigm used.

BRAIN Skvil Shoe Nasal Guity Guity Chemium Ditactor Chemi

Clinically useful OIs must combine cutting edge technology in both sensor and stimulation modules (Figure 2), in a way that

Images from resultant US patent for 'Olfactory Implant System' United States Patent 9,517,342 B2 (issued 13 Dec 2016) Costanzo and Coelho, Virginia Commonwealth University

Figure 1. Historical overview of the development of the first patent for an 'olfactory implant system', issued to Costanzo and Coelho, Virginia Commonwealth University, 2016.

is safe and useful to patients. Precise stimulation target and surgical approaches to implantation – such as transcribriform or transcranial approaches, will be discussed in the following sections.



Figure 2. Schematic drawing of the principles of an OI system. Possible targets include the olfactory epithelium, olfactory bulb, piriform cortex, orbitofrontal cortex, amygdala, hippocampus, insula, and nucleus accumbens.

Why: broad aims of olfactory implantation

The needs of patients with OD range from comparatively simple, to highly complex. Identification of odours such as smoke, natural gas or its additives (e.g. mercaptan) or by-products of spoiled foods could help to prevent household accidents and illness, particularly in people with anosmia or more severe hyposmia⁽¹⁷⁾. More complex olfactory perception - such as is required for food enjoyment or social communication may be more difficult to replicate initially, in part due to the highly personal nature of such perception - which heavily relies on autobiographical/episodic memory and consequently 'higher processing'. However, replication of these more complex functions separates OI from existing 'bioelectronic noses', or devices that can detect environmental odours and alert patients with OD to their presence ⁽¹²⁾. Whilst these devices may be helpful in environmental navigation and hazard avoidance, their use is limited to this. Through replication of the personal sensory experience of smell, olfactory implantation could impact on nutrition, mood and ultimately quality

of life⁽¹⁾. Furthermore, given the known link between OD and various medical conditions, such as neurodegeneration⁽¹⁸⁾ and frailty⁽¹⁹⁾, augmentation of the olfactory system through implantation could theoretically affect outcomes in these patients.

Accordingly, an early aim of the prototype olfactory implant is to provide levels of olfactory perception as would be required for environmental hazard avoidance. This is in line with recent survey results showing that patients prioritize regaining perception needed for environmental hazard avoidance, including the ability to detect spoiled foods ^(20,21). However, with personalised device programming and advancing technology the ultimate aim of olfactory implantation is to produce levels of sensory function that allow meaningful appreciation of the recipient's olfactory environment. Later aims of OI may include characterisation of the downstream effects of olfactory system stimulation, for example on nutrition, mood, frailty and neurodegeneration.

Overview of document

The following document provides an overview of current and emerging knowledge and technology relating to Ols. In an effort to guide innovation towards maximum patient benefit, we provide expert agreed statements on theoretical clinical aspects of olfactory implantation, including patient selection, implantation sites and potential complications, as well as post-implantation support requirements. Technical aspects will be discussed, with a clinical, device orientated focus. Finally, the ethics of olfactory implantation will be considered.

Methodology

The current literature was systematically reviewed for relevant topics until July 2024. Databases included Medline (PubMed inception – current), Google Scholar (limited to first 1000 results), Embase (Jan 1958 – current), as well as the preprint servers MedRxiv and BioRxiv. Search terms were constructed using truncation, Boolean operators and MeSH mapping, as appropriate. Reference lists and citing literature were hand-searched. Finally, steering group discussions were undertaken at the meetings in Dubai in January 2023 and a specific Meeting on Olfactory Implants, Geneva, Switzerland in December 2023. All included statements underwent a process of agreement using a modified Delphi process (RAND/UCLA methodology). Statements were initially drafted by the steering group and distributed to all co-authors for review. Authors were asked to score their agreement with the statements based on a category scale (1 – lowest level of agreement – to 9 – highest level of agreement). Results were classified as follows: Agreed: \geq 70% score 7-9, \leq 15% score 1-3 Disagreed: \geq 70% score 1-3, \leq 15% score 7-9 No consensus: results falling between agreed and disagreed

Olfactory implantation: clinical considerations and patient candidacy

Background: what is olfaction and olfactory dysfunction

Under normal physiological circumstances, the human sense of smell requires intact peripheral and central olfactory networks. Following diffusion into the olfactory mucus layer within the nose, odorants activate olfactory receptors – G protein coupled receptors found on the dendritic cilia of olfactory sensory neurons (OSNs) ⁽²²⁾. This interaction is thought to be affected by components within the mucus itself, including odorant binding proteins, and a variety of other solutes that may aid in odorant metabolism ^(23,24). The OSN are located within the olfactory epithelium of the olfactory cleft, and their axons (which collectively form Cranial Nerve 1) extend through the foramina of the cribriform plate to the OB, where they synapse with second order neurons (mitral and tufted cells) within specialised cellular regions called glomeruli. Mitral and tufted cell axons then ex-

tend to regions of the primary olfactory network, which in turn connects with the secondary olfactory network ⁽²⁵⁾ (Figure 3).

During normal homeostatic conditions, and in response to injury (important given their exposed position), OSN are capable of regeneration from a population of stem cells found within the OE. Such neurogenesis continues into adulthood ⁽²⁶⁾ and mirrors, at least in non-human mammals, neurogenesis within the subventricular zone and the OB ⁽²⁷⁾. Impairments in this regenerative potential by certain pathological conditions, can also lead to OD and, in addition, underlie spontaneous recovery in some conditions, such as post-infectious OD ⁽²⁵⁾.

The mechanisms by which odour quality is encoded have not yet been fully delineated. Whilst the human olfactory receptor (OR) gene family comprises approximately 400 active genes,



Figure 3. Overview of peripheral and central olfactory networks (modified from ref 18). OE = olfactory epithelium, OB = olfactory bulb.

people can potentially detect millions of distinct odorants (28-30). This is in part facilitated by complex combinatorial encoding - wherein odour ligands are recognised by a unique combination of OR, and at which they may function as agonists, partial agonists or antagonists. Consequent 'neural fingerprints' are likely further augmented by the unique spatiotemporal characteristics of odour binding, which are determined by an odour's physiochemical properties and those of the nose, nasal mucus layer and OR. Based on rodent models, each glomerulus receives axons from OSNs expressing the same OR type ^(31,32) – in this way, the pattern and timing of glomerular activation may reflect odour quality, though it is unclear whether this is stereotyped between people. Further tuning of the neural signal may involve top-down input and other excitatory or inhibitory modulation at the level of the primary or secondary olfactory networks. In short, the precise pattern of neural activation and subsequent perceptual quality associated with a particular odour is difficult to predict. Therefore, a patient with an OI is likely to undergo trial and error sessions for implant programming or 'calibration'.

Regarding airflow, olfaction is possible through two routes: orthonasal olfaction allows detection of environmental odours via antero-posterior airflow (as in breathing/sniffing) and retronasal olfaction allows detection of odours located within the mouth

Table 1. Definitions, adapted from ^(1,2).

Orthonasal olfaction	The perception of odorants anteriorly due to airflow from the nostrils to the olfactory clefts, e.g., during sniffing
Retronasal olfaction	The perception of odorants located within the oropharynx, caused by airflow to the olfactory clefts via the nasopharynx during swallowing or nasal exhalation
Normosmia	Normal olfactory function
Hyposmia	Quantitatively reduced olfactory function
Anosmia	Quantitatively reduced olfaction to the extent that the subject has no function that is useful in daily life
Hyperosmia	Quantitatively increased ability to smell odours
Olfactory intolerance	Qualitative olfactory dysfunction where individuals, without odour distortions, complain of a subjectively enhanced sense of smell and are intolerant to everyday odours
Parosmia	Qualitative olfactory dysfunction where indivi- duals, without odour distortions, complain of a subjectively enhanced sense of smell and are intolerant to everyday odours
Phantosmia	Qualitative dysfunction in the presence of an odorant (i.e., distorted perception of an odour stimulus)
Phantosmia	Qualitative dysfunction in the absence of an odorant (i.e., an odorant is perceived without concurrent stimulus, an 'olfactory hallucination')

and oropharynx through postero-anterior airflow (facilitated by chewing/swallowing)⁽²⁵⁾. Integration of retronasal olfaction with gustatory, chemesthetic and somatosensory sensations forms the basis of the flavour percept. Patients with OD usually experience impairment of both orthonasal and retronasal perception – though in some cases differential levels of impairment may occur. Further, due to its role in the flavour percept, many patients with OD report this as abnormal or impaired 'taste'.

Olfactory dysfunction can be broadly divided into quantitative and qualitative dysfunction. The former describes alteration in the intensity of odours (hyposmia – reduced perception, anosmia – absent perception), whilst the latter describes either altered perception of odour quality (parosmia), or perception of odour in the absence of an odour stimulus (phantosmia) ⁽³³⁾. The alterations of odour quality in qualitative dysfunction are usually described as unpleasant. In most cases, quantitative and qualitative OD co-exist. Parosmia and phantosmia also often occur together, but may also occur independently. See Table 1 for a full set of definitions.

Whilst OD can be attributed to numerous different underlying causes, pre-pandemic work from specialist centres showed that (excluding age-related OD), approximately two-thirds of cases were due to sinonasal, post-infectious or post-traumatic aetiologies. These, and other common causes of OD are listed in Table 2 ^(34,35):

The ideal patient for OI

The ideal candidate for implantation cannot be fully defined without knowledge of device specifics, such as stimulation target and surgical approach. At this early stage, therefore, candidacy can only be discussed in general terms. With this in mind, the following should be considered.

Table 2. Common causes of OD.

Condition	Examples (where relevant)
Sinonasal disease (SND)	e.g. Chronic rhinosinusitis (± nasal polyposis)
Post-infectious OD	e.g. SARS-CoV-2 and non-SARS- CoV-2 pathogens (PIOD)
Post-traumatic OD	
Aging	
Neurological disease	e.g. Parkinson's and Alzheimer's disease
Congenital OD	
OD associated with drugs/toxins	
Idiopathic OD	
Other	e.g. iatrogenic, tumours, systemic co-morbidities etc.

1) The degree and type of olfactory loss

An important question is whether OI should only be considered for people with complete anosmia or also in people with some remaining olfactory function. The former is most often found in relation to head trauma, or congenital anosmia⁽³⁶⁾. In other aetiologies, for example in PIOD - it is unclear how many patients have no residual function, as many report vague olfactory sensations that are difficult to describe, and almost impossible to capture using current olfactory tests ⁽³⁴⁾. Indeed, the presence or absence of olfactory perception cannot be objectively determined with absolute certainty, even through use of our most advanced available techniques (including functional neuroimaging and olfactory event-related potentials, in which both false positives and false negatives are seen ⁽³⁷⁾). Therefore, if complete anosmia is a required criterion for OI candidacy (with associated patient motivation being higher in this group (38) careful assessment is needed, as will be described below.

In early phases of development, achievable olfactory perception and consequent benefit to risk ratio may not be sufficient to justify implantation in patients with milder degrees of impairment. However, as with cochlear implants, advances in technology (i.e., decreasing implantation risks leading to broader indications) may mean such patients will be eligible in the future.

The presence of purely quantitative, qualitative or mixed olfactory impairment should also be considered. In patients with severe quantitative dysfunction, the presence of parosmia indicates residual olfactory function ⁽³⁹⁾, and possibly a better chance of spontaneous recovery than in those with anosmia without parosmia ^(40–43). It should be noted, however, that the underlying pathophysiology of parosmia and phantosmia remains unknown. Considering the 'miswiring hypothesis' of parosmia (in which incorrect or incomplete axonal targeting from OSN to OB is thought to occur) – though speculative – the possibility that such patients could have more negative/unpleasant percepts following implantation should be considered ⁽⁴⁴⁾. At present, therefore, it is unclear whether patients with purely qualitative dysfunction would benefit from implantation, and further research in this patient group is needed.

2) The cause of olfactory loss

Although more specific considerations require details of the device to be implanted, the cause of OD will affect OI candidacy. Underlying pathophysiology and its associated anatomical \pm functional effects on the peripheral/central olfactory system may both affect long term prognosis and suitability for stimulation at different sites. For example, in OD associated with chronic rhinosinusitis (CRS), pathophysiology is thought to be due to initial inflammatory-related dysfunction at the level of the OR, followed by eventual histological remodelling of the

olfactory epithelium (OE) ± upstream neuroanatomical changes in regions such as the OB (45-50). Accordingly, both general and olfactory-specific outcomes are better when treatment is started early, though recovery after long periods of established disease is possible. Stimulation at the OE may not be appropriate or effective in people with marked ongoing inflammation, though bypassing sinonasal disease (for example refractive polyps or scarring due to previous surgery) through stimulation at the OB or further upstream, may potentially be of interest. In PIOD, though pathophysiological mechanisms are still being explored, potentially reversible damage at the level of the OR \pm OE likely occurs early in the disease process, which is followed by histological remodelling and potential upstream neuroanatomical changes (51). Spontaneous recovery occurs relatively frequently in PIOD, likely due to reversible early pathophysiology ± ongoing or renewed neurogenesis. Indeed, it is thought that one third or more of patients experience spontaneous recovery within the first 2-3 years of disease (52,53). Similar to CRS, stimulation at the OE may not be effective due to underlying disease mechanisms, although this is a theoretical possibility at this time. In conditions in which spontaneous recovery is possible, device adaptations to allow such recovery to occur unincumbered should be considered.

The prognosis in other aetiologies of OD is more guarded. In PTOD, whilst some degree of recovery has been suggested in up to 30% of patients, full recovery is unusual ^(54–58). This likely relates to the underlying mechanisms of OD after head injury – which vary from OSN axonal transection to intra-parenchymal haemorrhage, contusion, and gliosis. Whilst ongoing neuro- and axonogenesis may allow reconnection of OSN to the OB, scar tissue at the level of the cribriform plate may impair this process, with central lesions being potentially permanent. However, case reports exist suggesting that delayed recovery is possible in select cases of PTOD ⁽⁵⁹⁾. Therefore, in addition to duration of OD, patients with PTOD should undergo sufficient investigation to delineate central lesions and their possible interference with either the implantation device itself, or upstream olfactory processing.

The exact pathophysiology underlying OD due to aging or neurodegeneration are not fully understood. However, it likely involves either widespread progressive changes or primarily central mechanisms. Currently, there is no way to reverse the degeneration that has already occurred. Similar to PTOD, central pathology may prevent appropriate upstream olfactory processing. Implantation for the purposes of olfactory perception in these patients would likely represent a more complex challenge. Similarly, patients with congenital OD, in whom central processing is likely to be divergent from those with normal developmental olfaction, it is unclear whether stimulation at the OE / OB (in cases of hypoplastic OBs) or even higher order structures would produce olfactory perception comparable to patients with acquired loss.

(3) The duration of olfactory loss

In patients eligible for OI, their impairment should be of sufficient duration that spontaneous recovery, or recovery through treatment, is unlikely. As outlined above, in conditions such as PIOD recovery usually occurs within the first 2-3 years of disease. Indeed in medico-legal investigations, 2 years is commonly cited as the duration beyond which recovery is unlikely ⁽⁶⁰⁾. Given the invasive nature of OI, and potential associated risks, a minimum duration of more than 2-3 years from onset of OD would be a prudent duration prior to consideration of OI candidacy except in cases of intentional intraoperative sacrifice of olfactory structures where total bilateral loss is expected. However, the rare possibility of spontaneous recovery after this point should be explained and discussed with all patients being considered for OI. Minimum levels of treatment prior to consideration of OI will be discussed in the section on Treatment of OD Prior to Consideration of OI. With this in mind, it should also be considered that, similar to hearing, a longer period of sensory deprivation could lead to reorganization of central olfactory structures (e.g. lower grey matter), thus reducing performance of OI rehabilitation. Furthermore, the OB over time may become hypoplastic, making implantation very difficult (61,62). Therefore, very long durations of OD may not be favourable for implantation.

(4) Age and comorbid status

Studies focusing on hearing have demonstrated that the brain retains some neuroplasticity even up to advanced age ⁽⁶³⁾. Although ageing is associated with worse olfactory function ⁽⁶⁴⁾, older individuals have been shown to benefit from olfactory training, not only in terms of improvements in olfactory function but also in verbal function and subjective well-being ⁽⁶⁵⁾. However, some work has demonstrated no such effect for age in relation to improvements in OB volume after olfactory training ⁽⁶⁶⁾. Depending on the actual device installed and the amount of surgery required, patients eligible for OI should be otherwise generally healthy, sufficient at least to undergo the general anaesthetic required during surgical implantation, and to support good cognitive adaptation to their device thereafter. General health and cognition tend to deteriorate with age - and though a maximum age for implantation would be arbitrary – those of more advanced age should be carefully screened and normal scores in standard cognitive tests should be obtained.

(5) The condition of the OB

Where the OB is the stimulation target, its volume and shape should be assessed. It has been shown that OB volume decreases in relation to the degree and the duration of olfactory loss, although this does not necessarily directly correlate with outcomes in OD. Most patients with congenital anosmia have agenesis of the OB ^(67,68), and in many patients with PTOD, the OBs are not visible in MRI scans ^(69,70). However, OB volume has been shown to increase in association with improved olfactory function ⁽⁷¹⁾.

As a rule, in candidates being considered for implantation using the OB as target, the OBs should be visible on high resolution MRI.

(6) Patient expectations and motivation

Initial survey work has suggested that approximately one-third of patients with OD would consider OI, even if this involved a neurosurgical approach ⁽³⁸⁾. With greater knowledge of available devices and implantation technique, and thereby more detailed counselling, this proportion could potentially change.

(7) Social/economic support for ongoing rehabilitation

If the patient qualifies for 1.1 through 1.6, but does not have the appropriate socioeconomic support to enable return for post-operative rehabilitation, they might not be considered a good candidate. For comparison, this is critical in cochlear implant candidacy ^(72,73).

Statement 1:

1. Factors to consider regarding eligibility for olfactory implant (OI), include:

- 1.1. The degree of olfactory loss
 - Delphi result: Agreed (score 7-9 = 100%, mean score 8.8)
- 1.2. Cause of olfactory loss
- Delphi result: Agreed (score 7-9 = 89.5%, mean score 8.2) 1.3. Duration of olfactory loss
 - Delphi result: Agreed (score 7-9 = 87%, mean score 7.9)
- 1.4. Patients' age / cognitive function
- Delphi result: Agreed (score 7-9 = 73.7%, mean score 7.6) 1.5. Volume of the olfactory bulb (OB) (particularly where the OB is stimulation target)
 - Delphi result: No consensus (score 7-9 = 68.4%, 1-3 =
 - 13.2%, mean score 7.03)

1.6. Expectations and motivation of patient

• Delphi result: Agreed (score 7-9 = 97.4%, mean score 8.5) 1.7. Socioeconomic support system to allow for post-operative olfactory rehabilitation

• Delphi result: Agreed (score 7-9 = 92.1%, mean score 7.8)

Diagnosis of OD and pre-implantation assessment Olfactory function can be assessed using different techniques ranging from clinical history to functional imaging and electrophysiology. Importantly, however, the accuracy of olfactory assessment varies according to the technique employed. In particular, unstructured subjective assessment has been shown to poorly correlate with measured olfactory function. Accordingly, all recent international guidelines recommend against use of isolated clinical history for the assessment of olfaction (43,74). Rather, subjective assessment should be combined with psychophysical testing, which is considered the clinical and research standard. Unfortunately, a recent survey of international practice in the assessment of olfaction demonstrated that most clinicians do not perform psychophysical testing ⁽⁷⁵⁾. This is problematic - inaccurate assessment may lead to incorrect diagnoses, inappropriate treatment planning and meaningless outcomes measurement. When considering invasive treatment strategies such as OIs, it is therefore imperative that potential patients are thoroughly assessed according to current guidelines. Furthermore, assessment of severity of OD is important in order to guide OI candidate selection.

Statement 2:

2. Patients being considered for OIs should undergo full clinical and psychophysical assessment in line with current guidelines. In brief, this should include:

2.1. Standard, detailed clinical history – with particular focus on establishing underlying cause of olfactory dysfunction (OD)

• Delphi result: Agreed (score 7-9 = 100%, mean score 8.9) 2.2. Subjective olfactory assessment, ideally to include a validated questionnaire (e.g., Questionnaire of Olfactory Dysfunction) or other recognised form of subjective assessment (e.g. visual analogue scale [VAS]). Identification of parosmia is important, as this may be associated with higher rates of spontaneous recovery

• Delphi result: Agreed (score 7-9 = 89.5%, mean score 8.4) 2.3. Full ear, nose, and throat (ENT) examination, including nasal endoscopy, with careful inspection of the olfactory cleft as anatomical variations may complicate potential electrode placement

• Delphi result: Agreed (score 7-9 = 97.4%, mean score 8.8) 2.4. Psychophysical assessment using a tool that has been validated for the target population and allows categorisation of severity. Ideally, this should test odour threshold and identification or discrimination.

• Delphi result: Agreed (score 7-9 = 92.1%, mean score 8.6) 2.5. Screening for cognitive impairment and psychiatric conditions. Patients with positive screening tests should undergo further assessment.

• Delphi result: Agreed (score 7-9 = 89.5%, mean score 8.3)

Imaging

With regards to imaging – significant heterogeneity in clinical practice exists. In attempt to address this heterogeneity, recent

guidelines provided recommendations for diagnostic imaging. However, in patients being considered for OI, structural assessment of the peripheral and central olfactory pathways should be undertaken, to include the nose, sinuses, OB, as well as the primary and secondary olfactory networks. Any abnormalities in these structures should be fully characterised, in order to determine such abnormalities' impact on potential electrode placement and/or implant function.

Imaging should also be performed at the time of surgery (ideally intraoperatively ± immediately postoperatively), in order to provide detailed information about precise electrode contacts and thereby stimulation targets. Perioperative and postoperative CT, as well as preoperative high-resolution MRI could be used for this purpose, as well as to enable image-guided navigation system use. Pre-operative angiography may also be considered, to delineate the course of vessels at potential risk during implantation. Given the associated invasive nature and potential risks of angiography, CT angiography (CTA) may be preferable in this context.

Statement 3:

 Patients being considered for Ols should undergo
 CT of the nose, paranasal sinuses and anterior cranial fossa to delineate bony anatomy.

• Delphi result: Agreed (score 7-9 = 97.4%, mean score 8.7) 3.2. High resolution magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) to cover the OBs, primary and secondary olfactory networks to delineate normal and abnormal anatomy and suitability for implantation.

• Delphi result: Agreed (score 7-9 = 94.7%, mean score 8.7) 3.3. Angiography to delineate associated vascular structures at risk of injury during implantation.

• Delphi result: No consensus (score 7-9 = 55.3%, 1-3 = 13.2%, mean score 6.6)

Treatment of OD prior to consideration of OI Prior to consideration of OI, potential candidates should undergo appropriate treatment according to current guidelines. At present, for all underlying causes of OD, with the exception of SND (for which separate, extensive treatment guidelines exist ^(76,77)), the strongest level of evidence exists for olfactory training ^(43,74). Accordingly, patients should have undergone a minimum period of documented olfactory training of at least 3 months ⁽⁷⁸⁾. Given the invasive nature of OI, a longer duration of olfactory training might be preferable. Furthermore, where there is a possibility of an undiagnosed inflammatory condition, a trial of systemic and/or intranasal corticosteroids should be considered, again in line with current guidelines. For patients without signs of sinonasal inflammation, a trial of intranasal corticosteroids using high volume saline douches, drops with appropriate counselling regarding access to the olfactory cleft, or other novel application devices should be considered, as application using standard intranasal sprays are not effective in this group ^(79,80).

Whilst other therapies such as intranasal calcium buffers, intranasal vitamin A, intranasal injection of platelet-rich plasma or omega-3 supplementation may be of benefit, at present there is insufficient evidence to support their required use prior to consideration for OI. In patients with anatomical abnormalities, e.g. following nasal trauma, surgical techniques such as septorhinoplasty to restore nasal airflow to the olfactory cleft should be considered.

Statement 4:

4. All patients should have tried and failed existing treatments in line with current guidelines.

4.1. In all patients except those with sinonasal disease (SND), this should include an extended period of olfactory training (≥3 months).

• Delphi result: Agreed (score 7-9 = 92.1%, mean score 8.4) 4.2. In suspected SND/idiopathic OD, a trial of systemic/intranasal corticoste roids (with appropriate choice of intranasal delivery system) \pm nasal surgery should be considered.

• Delphi result: Agreed (score 7-9 = 94.7%, mean score 8.1)

Pre-implantation counselling

Given the invasive and novel nature of OI, it is important that patients undergo a period of pre-implantation counselling, in which the surgical and research team discuss potential risks, possible financial burden and anticipated perceptual outcomes. It is important that patient and provider expectations should align at this point. A point of contact (e.g., clinical or research nurse) should be available pre- and post-operatively. Consent for research involvement and sharing of data in an accessible patient registry should be sought at this point.

Statement 5:

5. All patients being considered for OI candidacy should undergo a period of multidisciplinary pre-implantation counselling.

• Delphi result: Agreed (score 7-9 = 92.1%, mean score 8.2)

Pre-operative assessment and possible contraindications

All patients should undergo thorough pre-operative assessment, during which potential surgical and anaesthetic risk factors should be identified. Though detailed discussion of contraindications requires knowledge of stimulation site and associated surgical approach, general, relative contraindications are discussed below.

Age

Older individuals are more likely to have chronic systemic or neurological diseases that may impact on the safety of surgery and subsequent recovery. Further, cognition decreases with age, potentially complicating the ability to adapt post-implantation. However, performing the procedure in young individuals may also be challenging, especially as the bony and cartilaginous framework of the nose progressively matures until approximately 16 years of age ⁽⁸¹⁾. Therefore, minimally invasive approaches may be preferable in younger age groups. Furthermore, counselling and issues surrounding consent complicate – though do not preclude – implantation in children.

Sinonasal disease

It is unknown whether/how chronic sinonasal inflammation could affect short and long-term outcomes in olfactory implantation – similar to the situation with chronic otitis media and cochlear implants. In addition to the underlying inflammatory processes in CRS, bacterial biofilms have been documented in these patients ⁽⁸²⁾, which may (especially those with a history of previous nasal surgery) also harbour a unique mix of bacteria ⁽⁸³⁾, resulting in persistent or more severe infection. Post-operative infection could cause complications such as delayed wound healing, dehiscence, and extrusion, if an intranasal route of implantation were used.

Nasal disorders

Recurrent bacterial infections and unusual pathogens should prompt an investigation for possible immunodeficiency (84). Furthermore, granulomatous diseases, such as sarcoidosis, eosinophilic granulomatosis with polyangiitis, and granulomatosis with polyangiitis, are associated with purulent infections, diseased mucosa, septal destruction, and scarring ⁽⁸⁴⁾, which may compromise sinonasal implant fixation and lead to increased risk of infection. Similarly, patients with cystic fibrosis or primary ciliary dyskinesia may have impaired mucociliary clearance ⁽⁸⁴⁾, which may also impact postoperative healing. Benign and malignant sinonasal tumours should be evaluated on a case-bycase basis.

Smoking

Smoking has been associated with poor olfactory function ⁽⁸⁵⁾. Tobacco smoke causes impairment of mucociliary clearance and suppression of sinonasal innate immunity, both of which may have adverse effects on wound healing ⁽⁸⁴⁾. Smoking cessation has been associated with improved mucus properties ⁽⁸⁶⁾, and fewer histological abnormalities in nasal mucosa ⁽⁸⁷⁾. Hence, smoking should be considered a contraindication to OI, particularly where the OE is the intended stimulation target. In patients where the OB or higher order structures are the intended simulation target, failure to quit smoking could also be considered a

relative contraindication, in a way analogous to refusing recommended treatments that could improve their olfactory health.

Operative risks

As for contraindications, detailed discussion of potential complications is dependent on both the device used and the specific surgical procedure. However, thorough pre-operative assessment of the patient's history (including comorbidities), physical exam findings, and diagnostics (including imaging) should be undertaken as part of a general approach to reduce risk. Furthermore, OI surgery should be performed by experienced surgeons (rhinologist/anterior skull base surgeons and/ or neurosurgeons) who have been appropriately trained using cadaveric dissection or other simulation methods. Registration of complications in centralized safety databases should be encouraged, to allow for collective learning amongst the OI community. Future studies, prototypes, or simulations should provide new information related to patient safety and necessary precautions to reduce risks.

A brief list of some potential complications that may be incurred can be found in Table 3.

Statement 6:

6. Thorough pre-operative assessment should be undertaken in all patients in whom OI candidacy is considered.

6.1. Absolute and relative contraindications can only be fully defined once device specifics are known, but are likely to include significant co-morbidity, blood dyscrasias and unfavourable anatomy. More generally, individual patient factors should be considered when weighing potential benefits versus risks of implantation.

• Delphi result: Agreed (score 7-9 = 92.1%, mean score 8.3) 6.2. To mitigate the risk of complications patients should undergo thorough pre-operative assessment/investigation, and surgery should be undertaken by experienced surgeons.

• Delphi result: Agreed (score 7-9 = 100%, mean score 8.8) 6.3. Future studies, prototypes, or simulations should inform future surgical planning to minimise risk of complications and optimise outcomes.

• Delphi result: Agreed (score 7-9 = 94.7%, mean score 8.5)

Post-implantation

After cochlear implantation, patients undergo a program of auditory rehabilitation. Accordingly, patients are supported during their period of adaptation to their new sensory input. A similar period of structured rehabilitation should be provided to patients who have undergone olfactory implantation. This should consist of device programming as well as possible olfactory training (OT) (ideally with supporting multi-modal sensory input, e.g. visual ± auditory cues in addition to odours). Targeted exposure to key 'safety' odours (e.g., smoke) could be prioritized first, after which an increasingly diverse repertoire could be introduced, focusing initially on common or particularly 'strong' odorants (Figure 4).

Patients should receive multidisciplinary support post OI where needed, to include specialist research nurses and extended members such as nutritionists or psychologists where required. Regular reviews from the implanting surgical team should be undertaken, and psychophysical smell testing performed periodically, to assess progress and possible background spontaneous recovery.

Statement 7:

7. Patients should undergo a structured programme of olfactory rehabilitation post implantation

7.1. This should include device programming with initial

Table 3. Potential major and minor complications.

Minor	Major
Bleeding Localized nasal infection Headache / pain Frontal sinus stenosis Nasal airway obstruction (e.g., scarring, synechiae)	SeizuresBleeding (subarachnoid, intracranial haemorrhage, periorbital ecchymosis, retrobulbarhematoma)Cerebrospinal fluid leakIntracranial infections (e.g. abscess [subdural empyema, cerebral abscess] or inflammation[Encephalitis, Meningitis])PneumocephalusCerebrovascular diseaseBrain tissue direct trauma (e.g. sequelae of frontal lobe parenchymal damage)Electrode migration / extrusion / damagePeriorbital cellulitisSubperiosteal abscess of the frontal bone (Pott puffy tumour)Vision Impairment/LossNasal septal necrosisQualitative olfactory dysfunction (Phantosmia / Parosmia)



Figure 4. Overview of patient selection process and post implantation care. '?' denotes patient groups in whom there is unclear utility of implantation at present.

'safety' odours, followed by commonly encountered odours.

• Delphi result: Agreed (score 7-9 = 94.7%, mean score 8.2) 7.2. Patients should receive multi-disciplinary support during this time.

• Delphi result: Agreed (score 7-9 = 97%, mean score 8.6) 7.3. Standardised outcome measure should be collected at regular post-implantation intervals, including psychophysical tests, patient-reported outcome measures, and tests for cognition/depression.

• Delphi result: Agreed (score 7-9 = 97%, mean score 8.8)

7.4. Complications monitoring including, where indicated, CT scans should be undertaken at regular post-implantation intervals where indicated.

• Delphi result: Agreed (score 7-9 = 81.6%, mean score 7.9) 7.5. Standardised database reporting should be undertaken for safety, and ideally outcomes assessment including a position map of odours for possible optimization of electrode position.

• Delphi result: Agreed (score 7-9 = 97%, mean score 8.5)

Implants and stimulation: technology, techniques and potential pitfalls

In the following sections, the technological aspects of olfactory implantation and associated specific surgical considerations will be discussed, with a particular focus on stimulation target and technique. For detailed discussion of the 'sensor module' – we would refer readers to the available literature on artificial and bioelectronic noses ^(9,12,15).

Stimulation targets

Based on our knowledge of olfactory physiology, electrical stimulation can be targeted at various sites within the olfactory system, including the periphery - the olfactory epithelium - or central structures - including the OB and upstream regions such as the piriform cortex (PC). In the following section, stimulation will be discussed at these different levels (see also Table 4).

The olfactory epithelium

Stimulation at the level of the OE aims to replicate initial stimulus conduction, thereby activating all physiological upstream structures. In theory this could produce 'ecological' perception. At birth, the OE is located as a continuous sheet within the olfactory cleft - an anatomical region bounded by the cribriform plate superiorly, the superior septum medially, and the middle and superior turbinates laterally (111). Whilst some degree of spatial organisation or 'rhinotopy' has been shown in animals (112,113), its extent is not completely clear in humans. With advancing age and cumulative pathological insults, the overall extent of the OE decreases, and it may develop a patchy distribution due to interspersion of metaplastic respiratory or squamous epithelium (51,114) - though OE has been shown to be consistently present immediately below the cribriform plate, even at advanced age (115). In a recent cadaveric study of OE histology (mean age at death 74.1 years), whilst there was inter-individual variation,

Fitzek and colleagues demonstrated that the OE extended on average '1.0 cm below the cribriform plate, 0.7 cm posterior to the anterior attachment of the middle turbinate, 1.7 cm above the inferior edge of the middle turbinate, and 0.4 cm anterior to the sphenoid face' ⁽¹¹⁶⁾. Together, interindividual variation in distribution of OE, lack of clear rhinotopy and respiratory/squamous metaplasia complicate stimulation at this site.

Perhaps in line with this, studies investigating olfactory perception following stimulation of the OE have demonstrated varying results. Early work from Uziel and colleagues demonstrated specific or 'formed' olfactory percepts such as 'almond' (n=5), 'burnt' (n=3), or 'vanilla' following electrical stimulation of the OE ⁽⁹²⁾. In contrast, another early study failed to demonstrate olfactory perception following electrical stimulation, though when such stimulation followed odour exposure it reproduced the prior percept (93). In more recent work, generalised olfactory perception (e.g. 'sweet, chemical, and fragrant') was evoked through electrical stimulation at the middle turbinate in 8 out of 31 participants ⁽⁹⁸⁾. Aoyama and colleagues recently demonstrated irritating intranasal chemosensation using non-invasive electrical stimulation at the nasal bridge and the dorsal surface of the neck - postulated to cause activation of the olfactory nerve. However, underlying mechanisms for these perceptions have yet to be fully elucidated, with either activation of the olfactory and trigeminal nerve or of the trigeminal nerve alone being possible ⁽⁹⁷⁾. In several other studies, no olfactory perception could be elicited following stimulation of the OE ^(94,96). Instead, sensations like 'tingling' or 'flashes of light' have been described, depending partly on the applied voltage - with subliminal stimulation leading to more unpleasant perceptions.

Source (year)	Study population	Target stimula- tion area	Methods (Type of Stimulation)	Type of stimula- tion device	Results
Electrical stimulation of the olfactory epithelium					
Althaus (1881) ⑷	1 patient with trigeminal dys- function	Nasal cavity mu- cous membrane	eStim with a current of "thirty-five pairs of plates"	unspecified	Perception of phosphorous smell
Aronsohn (1884, 1886) ^(5,6)	6 subjects	Nasal cavity (un- specified)	eStim at 2.5 mA menti- oned (but unclear if same for all participants), nasal cavity filled with 0.73% Na Cl solution at 38 °C for stimulation	Platinum wire surrounded by rubber tube	Odour perception like the smell that arises "when one very slowly and carefully lights a Swedish match", current of 0.1 to 0.2 mA are sufficient to stimulate an olfactory sensation
Uziel (1973) ⁽⁷⁾	21 healthy sub- jects and 6 OD patients	Olfactory epithe- lium	eStim using various electrodes (Ag, Ag-AgCl, NaCl) either cathodic or anodic, stimulus duration 5s (rectangular current), can deliver a pulse with intensity varying from 0 to 500 μA	Focal electrodes: Pure silver wire surrounded with polyvinyl sheath, Fine polyvinyl ca- theter containing a silver rod coated with silver chloride in contact with a silver chloride solution	For anodal stimulation odour perception "almond" (n=5), "burnt" (n=3), vanilla (n=1) and "purulent" (n=1).
Straschill et al. (1983) ⁽⁸⁾	10 healthy sub- jects, 5 epilepsy patients	Olfactory epithe- lium	eStim (60 Hz, duration 15 s, same current was used which elicited taste sensa- tions when applied to the tongue) and presentation of olfactory stimuli	Silver ball elec- trode	No olfactory sensation followed eStim. Phosphenes were observed at higher stimulus intensities. Suppression of olfactory sensation when odorants were presented during stimulation. Olfactory perception was suppressed when odorants were presented concur- rently with stimulation. In some cases, re-experiencing of odours occurred when eStim was applied shortly after odorant presentation. Unpleasant olfactory sensation followed eStim (n=3, with a history of temporal lobe epilepsy)
lshimaru et al. (1997) ⁽⁹⁾	5 healthy subjects	Olfactory epithe- lium	eStim via Ag electrode, electrical current of 2 mA for 0.5 ms, stimulation rate 2 Hz	Bipolar silver sp- here electrode	No generation of olfactory sensati- ons but tactile sensations were no- ted. Pain sensations were observed when stimulating electrode was outside of the olfactory cleft and touching the respiratory mucosa.
Ishimaru et al. (2002) ⁽¹⁰⁾	14 subjects (inclu- ding 12 patients with OD)	Olfactory epithe- lium	Prior to testing, 0.1% epinephrine was applied to olfactory cleft, eStim 2 mA, 0.5 ms duration	Bipolar electrode	No olfactory sensation
Weiss et al. (2016) ⁽¹¹⁾	50 subjects (Expe- riment 1); 16 subjects (Expe- riment 2)	Olfactory epithe- lium, superior and middle turbinates	eStim using a battery- powered electronic stimulator: [Experiment 1: lasting for 0.5, 1, 2, and 3 s, with ISI of 30-50 s, starting at 50mV and incrementally increasing until sensation of any kind (currents ranging from 50-800 µA, Experiment 2: average cur- rent 200 µA, with odours of "rose", "chocolate", and "manure"]	Pure-silver stimu- lating macro- electrode	Minimal modulation of presented olfactory stimuli. No generation of olfactory sensati- ons by eStim, sensations described as electrical current, pinpricks, or cooling inside the nostril.

Source (year)	Study population	Target stimula- tion area	Methods (Type of Stimulation)	Type of stimula- tion device	Results
Karunanayaka et al. (2023) ⁽¹³⁾	31 healthy sub- jects	Olfactory epi- thelium (middle turbinate)	eStim (rectangular-shaped weak electrical pulses in different frequencies [0–30 kHz], and currents [1–5 mA]), stimulus duration 10s, inter-stimulus interval 60 s	Arduino microcon- troller, two silver electrodes	For different stimulation para- meters 22 olfactory sensations: chemical and fragrant smell sensations in 8 participants (1 mA, 70 Hz), sweet smell sensation in 8 participants and chemical smell sensations in 6 participants (1 mA, 10 Hz)
Electrical stimu	lation of the OB and	other brain areas in	humans		
Penfield, Jasper (1954) ⁽¹⁴⁾	1 subject	OB	eStim parameters unspe- cified	Unspecified	Unpleasant odour sensation (seemed like "manure")
Holbrook et al. (2019) ⁽¹⁵⁾	5 CRS patients	OB (intended site of stimulation, but actual placement over olfactory mu- cosa, along the la- teral lamella of the cribriform plate at the anterior, mid- dle, and posterior ethmoid)	Trans-ethmoidal eStim of the OB. Square wave current of repetitive pulses at 1 to 3.17 Hz frequency, intensity from 1 to 20 mA, duration from 0.2 to 0.3 ms, intensity increased by steps of 1 mA until smell perception or discomfort	Monopolar or bipolar electrodes	Odour perceptions (n=3): onion- like, antiseptic, sour, fruity, bad. Only tactile perceptions for the rest
Andy (1967) ⁽¹⁶⁾	1 epilepsy patient	Amygdala and hippocampus (right-sided)	eStim parameters unspeci- fied but stimulation of the amygdala: after-discharge lasted 21 s and spread to the adjoining hippocam- pus; hippocampus: dischar- ge lasted 16 s with minimal spread to the amygdala.	Intracranial bipolar electrodes	eStim of amygdala elicited olfac- tory sensation (foul), but eStim of hippocampus did not result in olfactory sensation.
Nashold and Wilson (1970) (22)	5 with neurologi- cal disease (par- kinsonian tremor n=3, chorea n=1, intractable cranial pain n=1)	Thalamus (ventral lateral [for tremor and chorea], dorsolateral mes- encephalon at the level of the collicu- lus [for pain])	eStim via depth electrodes on the awake patients	Fine depth elec- trodes	Electrostimulation of the thalamus various olfactory impressions (rubber, smoky/burnt, chloroform, clove) in 3 patients.
Hummel et al. (2005) ⁽²⁵⁾	11 PD patients	Sub-thalamic nucleus	Bilateral DBS with an impulse width of 60 µs, a stimulation frequency of 130Hz, and an amplitude of 2.8–3.4V.	DBS electrodes	Odour discrimination improved while DBS
Okun et al. (2007) ⁽²³⁾	5 patients with chronic and severe treatment- refrac- tory OCD	NAc, anterior limb of the internal capsule	Patients received either actual testing or sham testing. 0 to 8 V, pulse width of 210 or 90 or 450 µs, frequency 135 Hz.	Monopolar DBS electrodes	Smells were associated with sti- mulation in the most ventral lead positions in the NAc, described as metallic (n=6), odd (n=10), sweet (n=4), strange (n=4), roses/oil/ almonds (n=13).
Fonoff et al. (2010) ⁽²⁶⁾	1 advanced PD patient	Sub-thalamic nucleus	Chronic monopolar stimu- lation, 1.7 V right and 2 V left, pulse width 210 µs, frequency 130 Hz.	DBS electrodes	Improvement of odour identifica- tion (Brief Smell Identification Test Score: 8, normal) after 5 months.
Kumar et al (2012) ⁽¹⁷⁾	16 children with focal epilepsy	Subdural space in the areas of the gyrus rectus, medial orbitofron- tal gyrus	Biphasic pulses, frequency 50Hz, pulse duration 300 μs, train duration ranged up to 5 s, Current intensity from 3 to 9 mA.	A pair of subdural electrodes	Stimulation near OB or olfactory tract: olfactory sensations (n=11). Among these, 9 reported un- pleasant smells (bitterness, smoke, garbage) and 2 reported pleasant smells (strawberry, good food). These sensations were elicited after stimulation near the OB, the olfactory tract.

Table 4 continued. Overview of electrical stimulation on the olfactory system (Modified from Gunder et al. (3))

Source (year)	Study population	Target stimula- tion area	Methods (Type of Stimulation)	Type of stimula- tion device	Results
Mazzola et al. (2017) ⁽¹⁸⁾	221 drug-refrac- tory epilepsy patients	Insula	Bipolar square pulses of current, frequency 50 Hz, pulse duration 0.5 ms, train duration of 5 s, intensity between 0.2 and 3.5 mA.	Stereotactic depth electrodes (only contacts in the grey matter)	Olfactory sensations from stimuli at mediodorsal insula in 15 out of 550 stimulations, especially in the mid-dorsal part of the insula (posterior short gyrus).
Fox et al. (2018)	22 intractable focal epilepsy patients	OFC	Bipolar eStim, alternative wave square current with 50 Hz, 2-8 mA and pulse width of 200-300 ms. Sham stimulation included for some patients. Open- ended questions with follow-up questions.	Subdural grid / strip electrode arrays (n=9), depth electrodes (n=12), or a mix of both (n=1)	Olfactory (n=13), gustatory (n=3), somatosensory (n=8) and affective (n=2) changes occurred. Olfactory phenomena were largely neutral or unpleasant. Left lateralization of stimulations elicited more negative events while right sided stimulation elicited more neutral effects. Most of the effects after stimulation around the transverse orbital sulcus, none in the anterior part of the OFC.
Bérard et al. (2021) ⁽²⁰⁾	8 temporal lobe epilepsy patients	OFC, anterior hip- pocampus	Biphasic pulses, frequency 50 Hz, 0.2 ms duration, monopolar, maximal sti- mulation 4mA.	Stereotactic depth electrodes (stimulation only on the most distal contact)	Stimulation at medial OFC: pleasant olfactory perception (n=5), such as coffee or lemon. Specific locations: olfactory sulcus, medial orbital sulcus, or medial orbitofrontal gyrus. Increasing stimulation amplitude changed the percept identification in 3 of the 5 patients.
Li et al. (2023)	302 medically refractory epilepsy patients	Insula, amygdala, OFC, middle/su- perior temporal cortex, pars orbita- lis/superior frontal cortex, postcentral gyrus, rostral ACC	Biphasic eStim with pulse width of 0.3 ms and 5 s duration, frequency 50 Hz. Intensity ranged from 0.1 to 6 mA.	SEEG bipolar electrode	Chemosensory perception (olfac- tion, gustation and chemesthesis) elicited in 21 patients. Highest response rate (1.8%) in the insula, especially along the central sulcus axis. Mostly unpleasant sensati- ons and predominantly olfactory percepts.
Zhang et al. (2023) ⁽²⁴⁾	48 drug resistant epilepsy patients	Amygdala	eStim using high-fre- quency stimulation (50Hz, pulse duration 300 µs, train duration of 5 s), bipolar mode of stimulation to adjacent contacts. Stimulus intensities ranged from 0.5 to 8mA	Multi-lead SEEG electrodes	250 responses evoked, 12 olfac- tory responses in 4 patients, inclu- ding peculiar/obnoxious odours, sour smells, and smells associated with visual hallucinations

Table 4 continued. Overview of electrical stimulation on the olfactory system (Modified from Gunder et al. (3))

µs microseconds, ACC anterior cingulate cortex, Ag silver, Ag-AgCl-NaCl silver-silver-chloride-sodium-chloride, CI cochlear implant, NaCl sodium chloride ,CRS chronic rhinosinusitis, EEG electroencephalography, ENT ear nose throat, eStim electrical stimulation, fMRI functional magnetic resonance imaging, Hz hertz, kHz kilohertz, mA milliampere, n number, NAc nucleus accumbens, OB olfactory bulb, OCD obsessive-compulsive disorder, OFC orbitofrontal cortex, PD Parkison's disease, s seconds, SEEG stereoelectroencephalography, STN subthalamic nucleus, DBS deep brain stimulation, V volts.

Interestingly, activation of the central olfactory system following stimulation of OE has also been observed. Using fMRI, Weiss and colleagues demonstrated alteration in activity of deep brain structures (e.g., the PC), after sub-threshold intranasal electrical stimulation immediately prior to the scanning session. The authors concluded that electrical stimulation of the OE caused altered central olfactory processing without olfactory perception ⁽⁹⁶⁾. Another study using EEG revealed evoked potentials from the ipsilateral frontal region following OE stimulation ⁽⁹⁴⁾.

Since almost all fragrances simulate both the olfactory and trigeminal systems ⁽¹¹⁷⁾, trigeminal stimulation may potentially augment olfactory sensation. Badran et al., demonstrated increased sensitivity to guaiacol following trigeminal nerve stimulation or transcranial direct current stimulation ⁽¹¹⁸⁾. Further, trigeminal stimulation may aid in the recipient patient's ability to locate the

Surgical approach to placement

Placement of electrodes for stimulation of the OE should theoretically be possible using an endoscopic endonasal approach, potentially under either general or local anaesthesia. Therefore, of the different target stimulation sites, the OE is the simplest, and likely safest. Long-term complications from intranasal electrodes, however, should be considered. The nose and the sinuses are not sterile, and infection and crusting around the implanted electrode (similar to an intranasal foreign body) is possible. Submucosal placement of electrodes could mitigate some of these issues, and deserve further research. Whilst healthy nasal mucosa is an effective barrier that limits inflammation, this is not the case in patients with chronic rhinosinusitis (CRS) - in whom barrier dysfunction leads to chronic inflammation, histological remodelling and clinical symptoms ⁽⁷⁶⁾. Such patients are therefore at increased risk of complications and intranasal implantation may therefore be inappropriate in this group.

The use of externally placed (transcutaneous) electrodes may allow non-invasive simulation of the OE \pm OB ^(97,120). However, more work is needed to demonstrate the utility of this approach in vivo.

The olfactory bulb

The olfactory bulbs are paired neuronal structures found immediately ventral to the frontal lobes, and dorsal to the cribriform plate. They are cortical-like with a lamellar architecture, containing various cell types, including mitral and tufted cells (second order neurons), interneurons and glia. OSN axons synapse within the OB within specific structures called glomeruli. Each glomerulus receives axons from OSN with the same OR type (i.e. monoallelic), resulting in some degree of spatial organization (111,121). Furthermore, previous work has demonstrated significant variation in glomerular size, shape and location within the human OB (122). This 'spatial fingerprint' is additionally augmented by the effects of differential odorant absorption characteristics, their potential subsequent interactions with the nasal mucus and nasal aerodynamics, together creating a complex spatiotemporal neural fingerprint ⁽²⁵⁾. Despite this, in theory, selective stimulation of the OB could mimic different odour activation patterns. Finally, when considering stimulation at this site, it is important to note that the shape and size of the OB is relatively plastic, reflecting olfactory function (with a range of volumes in one study from 37-98mm³ and 41-97mm³ for left and right sides respectively) (123,124). For example, the OB atrophies with age ⁽¹¹⁶⁾, and has been shown to increase in volume with improved olfaction following treatment (71). This highlights the potential interindividual differences that may affect stimulation of the OB, as well as the importance of thorough pre-operative imaging for

any potential OI recipients.

Due to the invasive nature of direct OB stimulation, the majority of studies to date have been performed in animals (125-128). In one such study, using a CI electrode, a localized field potential response was generated by direct stimulation of different areas of the rodent OB ⁽¹²⁵⁾. In humans, an early study from Penfield and Jasper described unpleasant olfactory sensations (e.g.: burning rubber, stench or manure) following invasive intraoperative electrical stimulation of the OB in patients with epilepsy ⁽¹⁶⁾. In a later human study, using a transcribriform stimulation approach in patients who had undergone previous ethmoidectomy, Holbrook and colleagues demonstrated olfactory sensations in 3 of their 5 subjects ⁽⁹⁹⁾. The elicited olfactory perception was reproducible after applying lidocaine intranasally to induce a temporary anosmia. The authors therefore concluded that the perception demonstrated was due to stimulation of the OB, rather than the OE.

Surgical approach to placement

Stimulation of the OB could be achieved through external, intranasal or intracranial stimulation (129,130). Although further investigation is likely to yield a greater variety of approaches and options, optimal intranasal and intracranial implantation positions, and their associated surgical approaches were investigated by Menzel and colleagues in a recent cadaveric study (129). For the intranasal approach a U-shaped mucosal flap was elevated from the axilla of the middle turbinate, and an electrode was placed immediately ventral to the cribriform plate, following which the mucosal flap was repositioned. Advantages of this approach include ease of surgical placement, and relative safety regarding CSF leakage or ascending infections. However, the distance of the intranasal electrode to the OB is relatively large due to intervening skull base, which could result in reduced spatial specificity due to higher required stimulation. Regarding intracranial placement, the following approaches were investigated: through a widened ostium of fila olfactoria (endoscopic), after performing a Draf IIb procedure (endoscopic), through a wider transcribriform approach (endoscopic) and a combined approach with an endoscopic and frontal osteoplastic flap. The first of these approaches seemed particularly promising - allowing close positioning of the electrode to the OB and an acceptable level of surgical invasiveness. The Draf IIb procedure provided a good overview of the surgical area, however, may result in frontal sinus ostium obstruction after placement of the implant. In another study, Benkhatar and colleagues suggested a midline OI with stimulating electrodes placed either extracranially, immediately ventral to the cribriform plate, or extradurally, medially between the two OB - facilitated by transseptal transcribriform removal of the posterior two-thirds of the crista galli (130). The 'receiver-stimulator' was placed behind the hairline, with connection between the two facilitated by nasal bone minitrephination. Compared to the intracranial approaches described by Menzel and colleagues, the extradural approach of Benkhatar et al., may be more invasive, however there is no quantitative comparison at present. Both transcranial and transcribriform approaches are theoretically associated with complications, including but not limited to: cerebrospinal fluid leak, local or ascending infections (e.g., meningitis, subdural empyema, cerebral abscess, cavernous or superior sagittal sinus thrombosis, (haemorrhage and direct brain tissue injury). These risks tend to increase with the complexity of surgery and are contingent upon both the invasiveness of the procedure and individual anatomical considerations. Furthermore, Benkhatar and colleagues demonstrated high rates of simulated CSF leak associated with transcribriform techniques (130). Inadvertent skull base injury requires primary closure using appropriate reconstructive techniques. Potential risks should be mitigated by thorough analysis of preoperative imaging ⁽¹²⁹⁾, and use of intraoperative image-guided navigation systems where available. Together, the placement of an intracranial intradural stimulating device on the OB may appear technically easier (larger working space and room for anchoring) and safer (notably regarding CSF leak and infection) through a transcranial route than through an endonasal one. Preliminary work by Coelho et al., suggests a supraorbital keyhole craniotomy, performed through a cosmetically appealing brow incision, is feasible in as much as 95% of potential candidates. This approach, familiar to neurosurgeons, can afford direct line-of-sight to the OB without violation of the sinus mucosa or orbit. While such an approach may serve to mitigate the risks of CSF and meningitis compared with a trans-nasal approach, it may involve some additional degree of risk from frontal lobe retraction and vascular injury, even with angled endoscopic instrumentation ⁽¹³¹⁾. In general, approaches which preserve the peripheral olfactory anatomy should also be given special consideration, in order to allow underlying spontaneous recovery, and to facilitate return to baseline where potential explant was considered.

Central olfactory networks

Structures of the central olfactory networks can be divided into primary (those that receive direct neuronal input from the OB) and secondary (those that do not receive direct input). The primary network includes the PC, anterior olfactory nucleus, amygdala, entorhinal cortex and anterior perforated substance. The secondary network includes the orbitofrontal cortex (OFC), insula, hippocampus, and thalamus as well as other structures. Anatomically, these regions range in size and relative accessibility – with the OFC being comparatively large and easily accessible and the PC comprising a thin volume of cortex connecting the frontal and temporal lobes. Furthermore, these structures are multimodal and therefore do not uniquely subserve olfaction. This must be kept in mind when considering non-olfactory side effects from their stimulation.

With regards to the central olfactory networks, the majority of the existing literature has been produced during epilepsy research. Mazzola and colleagues performed stimulation of the insula using stereotactically placed depth electrodes in patients undergoing presurgical evaluation for medically refractive epilepsy (stereo-EEG): 221 patients underwent a total of 651 stimulations, of which only 6 elicited an olfactory percept (106). Also in patients undergoing stereo-EEG, Li and colleagues demonstrated chemosensory (olfactory, gustatory or chemesthetic) responses in 21 of 301 patients, and 53 of 21,661 stimulation sites, with the highest response rate being found in the insula (109). In the OFC, Bérard et al., and Fox et al., demonstrated olfactory perception using stereo-EEG (SEEG) and electrocorticography (ECoG), respectively (107,108). Kumar and colleagues also reported olfactory sensations in 11 out of 16 children with focal epilepsy using electrocorticography (ECoG) at the ventral frontal lobe. The elicited percepts were mostly unpleasant (9 out of 11 patients), and were most successful when located proximal to the OB or tract (irrespective of hemisphere side) (105). With regards to other regions, deep brain stimulation (DBS) in the ventral part of the nucleus accumbens (NAc) has been shown to elicit some chemosensory percepts ⁽¹⁰³⁾ (for details of DBS see Appendix 1). Finally, Zhang and colleagues demonstrated olfactory sensations in 4 out of 48 patients who underwent electrical stimulation of the amygdala ⁽¹¹⁰⁾. In summary, it appears that stimulation across different central sites could potentially produce olfactory percepts, although to different degrees and with varying reliability (132).

Surgical approach to implantation

To stimulate intracranial structures, the following can be considered: non-invasive procedures such as magnetic or direct current fields ^(133,134), minimally invasive procedures targeting cranial nerves as an entry into the brain ⁽¹³⁵⁾ or invasive procedures with an transcranial approach through craniotomy and stereotactic electrode placement within the region of interest.

Long-term electrode implantation for the purposes of monitoring or stimulating neuronal activity, is relatively well-established in therapeutic contexts (e.g., DBS and brain-computer interfaces, auditory brainstem implants). Nevertheless, electrical implantation of the central olfactory networks, upstream of the OBs, is accompanied by multiple challenges, both generic and specific.

Generic challenges include direct/indirect brain injury, CSF leak, local and intracranial infections ^(136–138). Specific challenges in central olfactory implantation include the size, shape and

location of olfactory eloquent structures. For example, whilst the PC – being the first recipient of input from the OB – would offer a theoretically attractive target, it is comparatively small, has a curved shape, and has both frontal and temporal divisions, making it challenging to achieve precise implantation ^(139–142). Because of its curved shape, its thickness is reduced to only 1–2 mm ⁽¹⁴¹⁾. Inadvertent propagation of applied electrical current beyond the target structure could occur, with unwanted side effects of non-target stimulation. This poses a theoretical issue for any small target structure. Also, the proximity of arteries in these regions poses a risk of haemorrhage during implantation, and the angle of implantation therefore has to be chosen carefully ⁽¹⁴³⁾.

Despite these issues, implantation could be considered for the OFC, insula, PC, amygdala, nucleus accumbens and medial temporal lobe. For more specific information, see Appendix 1.

Statement 8:

8. Efficacy of stimulated olfactory perception and impact of OD pathophysiology should be taken into account when considering potential stimulation sites:

8.1. Olfactory epithelium: only limited work has shown successful olfactory perception following electrical stimulation. Inter-individual variation in distribution, and potential histological damage associated with OD, complicates stimulation at this site.

• Delphi result: Agreed (score 7-9 = 84.2%, mean score 7.7) 8.2. OB: work in animals and humans has demonstrated activation of the olfactory system following electrical stimulation. Glomerular 'mapping' in humans, and its degree of stereotypy, is at present unknown. Variations in size and shape associated with OD should be kept in mind when considering stimulation in this site.

• Delphi result: Agreed (score 7-9 = 94.7%, mean score 8.3) 8.3. Central olfactory networks: some work has demonstrated olfactory perception following stimulation of upstream structures, though with low response rates. Central stimulation may be favourable in patients with significant damage to the OB. The multi-modal nature of central structures should be kept in mind when considering the efficacy of stimulated olfactory perception and potential side-effects.

• Delphi result: Agreed (score 7-9 = 97%, mean score 8.3)

Which electrodes?

Generic considerations about chronic implants

A. Stimulation vs recording for chronic use

A chronic implant is an implantable hardware allowing to 'write in' (stimulation) or 'read out' (recording) electrophysiological information directly from the brain. Long term implantation requires the electrodes to survive for an extended period of time in a harsh environment where the technology must be resilient to delamination, swelling, corrosion, dissolution, fouling, etc. ⁽¹⁴⁴⁾. Corrosion may be prevented by modern approaches ⁽¹⁴⁵⁾. It is noteworthy that novel encapsulation materials and technologies are being developed to ensure long-term in-vivo performance ⁽¹⁴⁶⁾.

B. Inflammation

Tissues react to the presence of a foreign body with an inflammatory response, also called foreign body reaction, resulting in the formation of encapsulating tissue (comprised of a dense layer of glial cells of up to several hundred µm thick). This layer electrically insulates electrodes from the target neurons ⁽¹⁴⁷⁾. Lessons may potentially be learnt from peripheral nerve stimulation (e.g. hypoglossal nerve stimulation), in which close circumferential contact between stimulating electrodes and nerves and dynamic activation pattern, mitigate the effects of formation of encapsulating tissue and electrode corrosion, respectively.

C. Materials

All materials must be suitable for chronic implantation (146, ¹⁴⁸⁻¹⁵²⁾. It has been shown that an implant's stiffness impacts on the inflammatory response, i.e., materials that are significantly stiffer than the brain tissue will create a larger inflammatory response. It is believed that the mechanical mismatch induces micro-movement of the implant with respect to the brain which maintains the inflammatory state long-term (152-154). Minimizing the final implant footprint and especially its cross-section is crucial to decrease the foreign body reaction (155,156). Altogether, soft (154) and flexible (157) designs/constructs are highly desirable when fabricating microelectrode arrays. These materials not only reduce the inflammatory response, but also conform better to the tissue topography. This close contact creates a highly efficient interface, enabling both high-fidelity recording with improved signal-to-noise ratio and enhanced stimulation for a given potential when stimulating.

D. Resolution

Small electrodes are desirable when small volumes of tissue are targeted for stimulation. Asplund and co-workers estimated that 1 mm³ of cortex houses a staggering 50,000 neurons ⁽¹⁵⁶⁾. This density far outstrips the capabilities of current technology, as evidenced by commercially available probes that offer only 16 electrode sites in a similar area. A multitude of small electrodes are achievable with microfabrication technologies; however, the limited electrode surface area available to interact with the biological environment induces a large electrochemical impedance. Large impedances not only limit the transduction of voltage to current when stimulating but also lowers the recording quality ⁽¹⁵⁸⁾. Finally, a high resolution is achieved fabricating an array of

Whitcroft et al.

microelectrodes, yet incorporating a multitude of microelectrodes onto a small implant presents a wiring challenge. While multiplexing ⁽¹⁵⁹⁾ and multi-layered fabrication techniques ⁽¹⁵⁶⁾ offer potential solutions, these methods increase both the cost and complexity of the fabrication process.

The ideal device to stimulate the OB

Taking the OB as hypothetical stimulation target, and considering the points discussed above, the ideal device would feature a dense array of electrodes capable of addressing single glomeruli, whose diameters range from 30 to 200 μm in mammals $^{\scriptscriptstyle (160)}$. For minimum invasiveness, an OI device would be flexible and wrap partly around the OB to address its external surface, similar to cuff electrodes. It would be inserted (either via a transcribriform approach or craniotomy), deployed and self-positioned around the OB once inserted. Arrays of electrodes with diameters and inter-electrode distance down to 5 µm diameter are easily achievable with standard microfabrication tools, but the challenges reside in other points. First, although it may be of little practical concern, electrodes may corrode and dissolve when used for electrical stimulation: these electrodes would, thus, need to be thick enough to survive chronic stimulation. Second, a strategy that could be used to increase their lifetime is to reduce microelectrode impedance, for instance, increasing their effective surface area by roughening the material used. Third, addressing single glomeruli over the whole surface of the OB would result in a large number of electrodes. The routing and wiring would thus represent a technical challenge, adding to the data collection and processing power necessary to treat a large number of signals.

Brain stimulation devices

Devices for brain stimulation are widely available on the market, though at different stages of regulatory approval. The main types used today include intracortical microelectrodes, and depth electrodes ⁽¹⁵²⁾. Intracortical microelectrodes are small shafts that are implanted in the cortex and target shallow layers of cells. Depth electrodes are placed along the length of centimetrelong shafts that reach deeper structures of the brain ⁽¹⁶¹⁾. ECOG – though used primarily for recording rather than stimulation (which at present can only be used for short term purposes, for example during exploratory epilepsy surgery), uses electrodes placed on a flat substrate between the dura mater or between the dura mater and the brain – and may have greater application in the future.

A more detailed discussion on brain stimulation devices, including: intracortical microelectrodes, depth electrodes, and EcOG may be found under Appendix 2.

Stimulation type – neural oscillations

Brain activity manifests electrical oscillations, which are repetitive rhythms of neuronal firing. In humans, neuronal activations are usually recorded as Local Field Potentials (LFP) ^(162,163). The timing and sequence of oscillations found in the different structures of the olfactory system seem to play an important role for olfactory sensations. There is a synchronization of breathing rhythms between the PC, the amygdala and the hippocampus especially during the inspiration phase ⁽¹⁶⁴⁻¹⁶⁶⁾ - three structures known to be responsive to odorous stimulation. Thus the connectivity between structures of the primary olfactory cortex aligns with the breathing frequency, and probably as a consequence, this modifies the primary olfactory cortex's ability to sample odours. In addition, theta, beta and gamma oscillations are found in the primary olfactory cortex during olfactory processing in a specific sequence ⁽¹⁶⁵⁾.

Altogether, the results of these studies suggest that the PC, the amygdala, or the hippocampus could be interesting targets for electrical stimulation with an Ol. Other regions, including the OFC, insula and the NAc may also be of interest. However, as described above, the various studies show inconsistencies in perceptual outcome, with a low response rate. This may be due to technical challenges such as the area covered by the stimulation itself. But it may also come from the fact that the stimulations described are not delivered as a form of embedded frequencies.

Further research is required to determine whether one stimulation site is sufficient. Although it has been shown that there is a specific chain of events ⁽¹⁶⁷⁾, from the PC to the OFC, passing through the limbic system among others, olfactory processing is in fact organized in different networks (sensory, memory, and cognitive) ^(168,169). To increase this complexity, some feedback information follows a top-down pathway, for example from the amygdala to the PC or the OB to the OE ⁽¹⁷⁰⁾. These issues require attention when planning successful electrical stimulation and choosing suitable stimulating sites, and it might be that two or more brain structures require simultaneous stimulation, or with a slight delay, for successful and/or efficient olfactory perception.

In summary, electrical stimulation may be most successful when pulses are applied with a specific onset (aligned with inhalation), precise timing (to be studied) and with a specific sequence of events (theta followed by beta and gamma).

Statement 9:

 Regarding OI electrodes and stimulation paradigm:
 9.1. Where the OB is target, ideally, the device should be able to connect a high-density microelectrode array of electrodes Table 5. Comparison of stimulation devices in the head and neck.

	CI	Hypoglossal neurostimulation	OI
Indication	Severe to profound hearing loss	Obstructive sleep apnoea	Olfactory impairment
Patient contraindication	Auditory neuropathy, intracranial lesions, cognitive impairment, cer- tain middle and inner ear disease	Central apnoea	See discussion in text
Nerve	Auditory nerve (CN VIII, sensory)	Hypoglossal nerve (CN XII, motor)	Olfactory nerve (CN I, sensory) and/or trigeminal nerve (CN V, sensory)
Sensor	Microphone – speech processor - transmitter	Detection of apnoeic episodes from a sensor located on the chest wall	Chemical sensor intra- (?) extra- (?) nasal
Energy	External part of the device	Implantable pulse generator	Intra- (?) extra- (?) nasal/cranial device
Stimulation	Continuous	Continuous or non-continuous	Continuous
Electrodes	Multi-contact Semi-rigid	Multi-contact Semi-rigid	Multi-contact Semi-rigid
Location of the electrodes	Cochlea	Wrapped around the hypoglossal nerve	Probably intracranial, extradural, close to the OB (?) Intranasal (?)
Efficiency	High due to tonotopy in the coch- lea and the auditory cortex	Controlled by selective stimulation between fibres innervating dif- ferent muscles (opening or closure the upper airway)	Unknown but probably activating OB OFC Transformation of olfactory signal to trigeminal perception
Selection of the patients	Multidisciplinary Audiological testing MRI	Multidisciplinary Sleep lab	Multidisciplinary Olfactory ± trigeminal tests MRI

CI cochlear implant, CN cranial nerve, MRI magnetic resonance imaging, OB olfactory bulb, OFC orbitofrontal cortex, OI olfactory implant

to address single glomeruli, should be flexible and small, for transcranial or transcribriform approaches, and is easily deployed and secured around the OB.

• Delphi result: Agreed (score 7-9 = 89.5%, mean score 8.1) 9.2. Where higher order olfactory structures are the target, currently available stimulation systems include depth electrodes (deep brain stimulation [DBS]), microelectrodes, and electrocorticography (ECoG) devices, which require different surgical approaches.

• Delphi result: Agreed (score 7-9 = 92.1%, mean score 8.3) 9.3. Ongoing research should address: the prolongation of microelectrode lifespan (through the lowering of electrode impedance and the use of novel material for electrodes and encapsulation); the reduction of foreign body reaction (matching the mechanical stiffness of conformal implants to the surrounding tissues and minimizing the electrode footprint); determining best method of implantation (single glomeruli, whole OB surface).

• Delphi result: Agreed (score 7-9 = 100%, mean score 8.6) 9.3.1. Active surveillance for complications secondary to persistent neurochemical, histological, and behavioural modifications resulting from electrode implantation should be undertaken.

• Delphi result: Agreed (score 7-9 = 100%, mean score 8.7) 9.4. Stimulation timing, sequence of oscillations and potential multiplicity of target site require further study, e.g., respiration-triggered sequences of oscillations aligned with specific time-locked electrical stimulation may best evoke reproducible olfactory precepts.

• Delphi result: Agreed (score 7-9 = 84.2%, mean score 8.0)

Where to place an energy source

Regarding the energy source, different implants located in the ENT area share common features (Table 5). A wired/wireless connection between the energy source and the stimulating electrode must exist. For the CI, for example, the energy source is the external part of the device and is located behind the auricle. For hypoglossal neurostimulation, the energy source is inside a pulse generator located in the anterior chest wall.

The question of location remains open: whether the energy source must be internal (e.g. in the olfactory cleft) or external (e.g. in the temporal area). If the energy source is internally located, it must be biocompatible. If the energy source is externally located, the cable connected to the stimulating electrode needs to be placed under the skin, which is a challenge in the area of the face around the nose. In the transseptal transcribriform approach recently described by Benkhatar and colleagues, the receiver was placed under the scalp, behind the hairline (see section on Surgical approaches for implantation for more details). If possible for the energy source, this could provide a cosmetically acceptable solution for many patients (130). As long as the array lead wire is thin enough it can be tunnelled (i.e. in the subperiosteal plane) to anywhere more posteriorly in the hair-bearing scalp where the receiver/stimulator would lie. The dimensions of the energy source are also of primary importance because, if internally placed, it must fit the olfactory cleft or a volume created by surgery e.g. in the maxillary sinus. There is always a trade-off between volume reduction and energy capacity. Due to recent advances, one can consider that in rechargeable devices, the volume of the battery is less than 2 cm³ per

stimulating electrodes (171).

Another problem to be considered for internally located power sources is how the battery is replaced after several years. This should be done, ideally, under local anaesthesia without removing the implanted device. In battery-powered devices, energy consumption is essential as it impacts the time between recharge and device longevity.

Another option for the energy source is to use a battery where the energy is transmitted by radiofrequency. Such devices exist for the hypoglossal neurostimulation where a flat battery is placed subdermally in the submandibular area near the hypoglossal nerve endings. One can hypothesize that such devices could be efficient for the electrode near the olfactory epithelium or near the OB if embedded under the skin of the forehead. Wireless charging battery systems also exist and could be used while the user is asleep.

Ethics of olfactory implantation

The hypothetical OI, though a much-anticipated step in the therapeutic field, carries with it several ethical issues.

There are four pillars of medical ethics: beneficence, nonmaleficence, autonomy, and justice. It is generally accepted that any medical intervention must respect these 4 pillars ⁽¹⁷²⁾. The most obvious question for the OI concerns the principles of beneficence and non-maleficence. Indeed, although the idea of developing an implant to improve or restore olfactory function is laudable, there are many uncertainties concerning its efficacy and its tolerability. In other words, can we guarantee that such an implant will benefit the patient without harming him or her?

A probable target for implantation is the OB. This requires intracranial access and is therefore relatively invasive. Moreover, as mentioned above, after the perioperative period, various adverse effects or complications may arise. Such an implant can therefore only be considered as ethically acceptable if the benefits outweigh the risks.

There is no doubt that restoring normal or subnormal olfactory function would justify the risks involved. But what if the implant could only detect a few smells? If only a few scents could be detected, those that would be preferred would certainly be those to improve hazard detection, and to enhance the pleasures associated with odour detection, particularly for food. Detecting odours associated with various environmental hazards could be considered a survival system. However, there are currently detectors for gas, smoke and spoiled food. Indeed, a wearable, 'sniffing smartwatch' that can detect environmental odours has already been demonstrated ⁽¹¹⁾. So, the main advantage of taking a surgical risk, in this scenario, would be to provide constant hazard detection.

It is an ethical imperative to fully discuss patient and provider expectations, prior to consideration of candidacy. Allowing patients to experience everyday smells (e.g., food, body odours) could certainly improve their quality of life. However, it is unlikely that the device would, at least initially, represent the multitude of smells that surround us. So, one question that should be discussed is whether patients would consider their quality of life satisfactory if they only smelled a restricted spectrum of odours. Referring to existing sensory implants, it is hoped to develop an OI that performs as well as CI. CI faithfully reproduces hearing and can be considered as a reference in the field of sensory implants. However, other implant types, like retinal implants, have produced much more controversial results. These implants provide low resolution pixelated pictures, which may seem insufficient for a normal-sighted person. However, it has been reported that some blind people considered even rudimentary perception as a significant improvement in their everyday life ⁽¹⁷³⁾. This suggests that, depending on context, even a slight restoration of a sense can be perceived as positive by patients. Likewise, the earliest days of cochlear implantation were marked by poor speech understanding that by today's hearing professionals would be considered poor. Nonetheless, deaf patients themselves felt the results to be nothing short of miraculous.

It is also important to consider the possibility that expectations may not be met, or that a complication may arise. Notably, studies on electrical stimulation of olfactory structures have shown that electrical stimulation can induce various types of odours, including parosmias. Given that parosmias are typically perceived as negative and have a strong impact on quality of life, having an implant that induces parosmias could even worsen patients' condition. The possibility that it may not work or that there may be a complication also may necessitate explantation (174). But in this scenario, if explantation is undertaken, it is uncertain whether the patient will at least return to his or her pre-implant function. Indeed, working on olfactory structures also runs the risk of altering residual olfaction. As such, and as was true with cochlear implantation, initial candidates must be those with complete anosmia with the least to "lose". In addition, depending on the device design, a wirelessly accessible OI may be prone to cybersecurity issues. Wireless access may be important for programming and monitoring that can be done remotely. However, it can also run the risk of the device being disabled or hacked ⁽¹⁷⁵⁾, and the risk of serious harm may increase for intracranially implanted devices. These important issues will have to be investigated and openly discussed with patients who are candidates for implantation.

Finally, the financial implications and associated healthcare equity of olfactory implantation must be considered. Whilst OI remain in the experimental stage, funding for such work will be provided by research grants, and access limited to select patients. However, looking forward to the position where OI could be available as a treatment option to the public, the associated costs and equitable access to such treatments must be considered. With this in mind, the healthcare equity of cochlear implants act as a good parallel. Cochlear implantation (CI), continues to face significant global challenges in achieving healthcare equity ⁽¹⁷⁶⁾. Disparities in access, utilization, and outcomes are heavily influenced by the social determinants of health, including socioeconomic status (SES), education, ethnicity, and geographic location. Worldwide, low- and middle-income countries experience significant inequities due to limited CI programs, insufficient public funding, and workforce shortages, leaving many eligible patients without access to this technology. Even in high-income nations, marginalized groups such as ethnic minorities and individuals from lower SES backgrounds often encounter delays in diagnosis and treatment or are unable to afford care. For example, global CI utilization rates remain below 15%, reflecting systemic barriers to access and affordability (176). Addressing these disparities requires a multifaceted approach that includes expanding CI programs in underserved regions, increasing government subsidies or insurance coverage, and investing in healthcare infrastructure and professional training. These issues should be kept in mind when developing potential

olfactory implantation programmes. However, further consideration should be given to the cost to benefit ratio for OI, which may differ from that of CI. One may argue that the putative olfactory implant more heavily subserves quality of life than the cochlear implant. That being said, environmental safety, nutrition and mental health, as well as other unknown long-term effects of olfactory implantation may better justify their cost. Further work in this area is required.

In conclusion, the important ethical challenge for the development of OIs is to identify the potential benefits that patients can expect and to balance them against the potential risks.

Statement 10:

10. The ethical implications of OI should be considered during research and development stages, as well as at the point of clinical application.

10.1. Patients should be consulted during the research/development phase to help inform device priorities.

• Delphi result: Agreed (score 7-9 = 94.7%, mean score 8.6) 10.2. Standardized database reporting of surgical and device/ treatment related complications should be undertaken.

• Delphi result: Agreed (score 7-9 = 100%, mean score 8.8) 10.3. Possibility of planned explantation of the device should be considered.

• Delphi result: Agreed (score 7-9 = 100%, mean score 8.7)

Conclusions

Ol-driven olfactory perception could revolutionize the treatment of patients with permanent and disabling olfactory loss. However, at present olfactory implants remain experimental, with significant potential associated risks, and have not yet been trialled in people. Careful selection and counselling of potential implantation candidates is required, as outlined in the preceding sections. Together, this document aimed to provide an outline of current technology, possible targets, patient selection, limitations, and potential complications of implantation. It is hoped that this will be a useful resource and roadmap for the years to come.

Acknowledgements

None.

Authorship contributions

KLW: Conceptual design, writing of manuscript, editing of manuscript, production of figures, integration of co-author comments, participation in Delphi exercise; AKH: Writing of content, editing of manuscript, integration of co-author comments, participation in Delphi exercise; TH: Conceptual design, writing

Whitcroft et al.

of content, integration of co-author comments, administrative support, participation in Delphi exercise; MB, CH, CSSL, CM, DP, PR, SW: Writing of content and participation in Delphi exercise; PA, AA, HB, CB, FC, RMC, VD, WE, APF, SG, CAH, EHH, JWH, MK, IK, SPL, BNL, AM, EM, TM, HN, ZMP, CP, WP, RMR, PS, RS: Review of content and participation in Delphi exercise.

Conflicts of interest

No conflicts of interest to declare.

Funding

TH, MB, CM and SW receive funding from the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme under grant agreement No 964529.



References

- Croy I, Nordin S, Hummel T. Olfactory disorders and quality of life-an updated review. Chem Senses. 2014;39(3):185–94.
- Desiato VM, Levy DA, Byun YJ, Nguyen SA, Soler ZM, Schlosser RJ. The prevalence of olfactory dysfunction in the general population: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Am J Rhinol Allergy. 2021;35(2):195–205.
- Brämerson A, Johansson L, Ek L, Nordin S, Bende M. Prevalence of olfactory dysfunction: the skövde population-based study. Laryngoscope. 2004;114(4):733–7.
- Murphy C, Schubert CR, Cruickshanks KJ, Klein BEK, Klein R, Nondahl DM. Prevalence of olfactory impairment in older adults. JAMA. 2002;288(18):2307–12.
- Landis BN, Konnerth CG, Hummel T. A study on the frequency of olfactory dysfunction. Laryngoscope. 2004;114(10):1764–9.
- Firestein S. A nobel nose: The 2004 nobel prize in physiology and medicine. Neuron. 2005;45(3):333–8.
- Costanzo RM, Coelho DH. Olfactory implant system. United States of America; US9,517,342B2, 2014.
- Persaud K, Dodd G. Analysis of discrimination mechanisms in the mammalian olfactory system using a model nose. Nature. 1982;299(5881):352–5.
- Fournel A, Mantel M, Pinger M, et al. An experimental investigation comparing a surface plasmon resonance imaging-based artificial nose with natural olfaction. Sensors Actuators, B Chem. 2020;320(January).
- Haddad R, Medhanie A, Roth Y, Harel D, Sobel N. Predicting odor pleasantness with an electronic nose. PLoS Comput Biol. 2010;6(4).
- González V, Godoy J, Meléndez F, et al. Sniffing Smartwatch for Online Monitoring of Selected Odorants. Chem Eng Trans . 2024;112(May):97– 102.
- Wasilewski T, Gębicki J, Kamysz W. Bioelectronic nose: Current status and perspectives. Biosens Bioelectron. 2017;87:480–94.
- Liu Q, Cai H, Xu Y, Li Y, Li R, Wang P. Olfactory cell-based biosensor: A first step towards a neurochip of bioelectronic nose. Biosens Bioelectron. 2006;22(2):318–22.
- 14. Jin HJ, Lee SH, Kim TH, et al. Nanovesiclebased bioelectronic nose platform mimicking human olfactory signal transduction. Biosens Bioelectron. 2012;35(1):335–41.
- Ko HJ, Park TH. Bioelectronic nose and its application to smell visualization. J Biol Eng [Internet]. 2016;10(1):1–9.
- Penfield W, Jasper H. Epilepsy and the functional anatomy of the human brain. Little, Brown & Co.; 1954.
- Santos D V., Reiter ER, DiNardo LJ, Costanzo RM. Hazardous Events Associated with Impaired Olfactory Function. Arch Otolaryngol - Head Neck Surg. 2004;130(3):317–9.
- Marin C, Vilas D, Langdon C, et al. Olfactory Dysfunction in Neurodegenerative Diseases.

Curr Allergy Asthma Rep. 2018;18(8).

- Van Regemorter V, Dollase J, Coulie R, et al. Olfactory Dysfunction Predicts Frailty and Poor Postoperative Outcome in Older Patients Scheduled for Elective Non-Cardiac Surgery. J Nutr Heal Aging. 2022;
- Pinger M, Draf J, Lakner T, et al. Perceived utility of electronic noses in patients with loss of smell. Eur Arch Oto-Rhino-Laryngology. 2021;278(6):2155–6.
- Lee L, Luke L, Boak D, Philpott C. Impact of olfactory disorders on personal safety and well-being: a cross-sectional observational study. Eur Arch Oto-Rhino-Laryngology. 2024;(0123456789).
- Buck L, Axel R. A novel multigene family may encode odorant receptors: A molecular basis for odor recognition. Cell. 1991;65(1):175–87.
- Nagashima A, Touhara K. Enzymatic conversion of odorants in nasal mucus affects olfactory glomerular activation patterns and odor perception. J Neurosci. 2010;30(48):16391–8.
- 24. Shirai T, Takase D, Yokoyama J, et al. Functions of human olfactory mucus and age-dependent changes. Sci Rep. 2023;13(1):1–15.
- Whitcroft KL, Hummel T. Olfactory Function and Dysfunction. In: Flint P, Francis H, Haughey B, et al., editors. Cummings Otolaryngology. 7th ed. Philadelphia: Elsevier; 2021. p. 586–602.
- Durante MA, Kurtenbach S, Sargi ZB, et al. Single-cell analysis of olfactory neurogenesis and differentiation in adult humans. Nat Neurosci. 2020;23(3):323–6.
- Avaro V, Hummel T, Calegari F. Scent of stem cells: How can neurogenesis make us smell better? Front Neurosci. 2022;16(August):1–7.
- Verbeurgt C, Wilkin F, Tarabichi M, Gregoire F, Dumont JE, Chatelain P. Profiling of olfactory receptor gene expression in whole human olfactory mucosa. PLoS One. 2014;9(5):21–6.
- Dunkel A, Steinhaus M, Kotthoff M, et al. Nature's chemical signatures in human olfaction: A foodborne perspective for future biotechnology. Angew Chemie - Int Ed. 2014;53(28):7124–43.
- Gilad Y, Bustamante CD, Lancet D, Pääbo S. Natural selection on the olfactory receptor gene family in humans and chimpanzees. Am J Hum Genet. 2003;73(3):489–501.
- Ressler KJ, Sullivan SL, Buck LB. A zonal organization of odorant receptor gene expression in the olfactory epithelium. Cell. 1993;73(3):597– 609.
- Mombaerts P. Odorant receptor gene choice in olfactory sensory neurons: The one receptorone neuron hypothesis revisited. Curr Opin Neurobiol. 2004;14(1):31–6.
- Hernandez AK, Landis BN, Altundag A, et al. Olfactory Nomenclature: An Orchestrated Effort to Clarify Terms and Definitions of Dysosmia, Olfactory Intolerance, Parosmia, and Phantosmia / Olfactory Hallucination. ORL. 2023;1–9.
- 34. Keller A, Malaspina D. Hidden consequences of

olfactory dysfunction: a patient report series. BMC Ear Nose Throat Disord. 2013;13(1):8.

- Damm M, Temmel A, Welge-Lussen A, et al. Riechstorungen: Epidemiologie und Therapie in Deutschland, Österreich und der Schweiz. HNO. 2004;52(2):112–20.
- Hummel T, Whitcroft KL, Andrews P, et al. Position paper on olfactory dysfunction. Rhinology 2017; 54, Suppl 26. 1-30
- Lötsch J, Hummel T. The clinical significance of electrophysiological measures of olfactory function. Behav Brain Res. 2006;170(1):78–83.
- Besser G, Liu DT, Renner B, Hummel T, Mueller CA. Olfactory implant: Demand for a future treatment option in patients with olfactory dysfunction. Laryngoscope. 2019;129(2):312–6.
- Pellegrino R, Mainland JD, Kelly CE, Parker JK, Hummel T. Prevalence and correlates of parosmia and phantosmia among smell disorders. Chem Senses. 2021;46.
- Menzel S, Haehner A, Woosch D, et al. Parosmia as a predictor of a better olfactory function in COVID-19: a multicentric longitudinal study for upper respiratory tract infections. Eur Arch Oto-Rhino-Laryngology [Internet]. 2023;280(5):2331–40.
- Sekine R, Hernandez AK, Overbeck C, et al. Comparison of Patient Characteristics and Olfactory Sensitivity for Trigger Odorants in Parosmia and Phantosmia. Laryngoscope. 2024;134(July):3277–85.
- Liu DT, Sabha M, Damm M, et al. Parosmia is Associated with Relevant Olfactory Recovery After Olfactory Training. Laryngoscope. 2021;131(3):618–23.
- Whitcroft KL, Altundag A, Balungwe P, et al. Position Paper on Olfactory Dysfunction: Rhinology Suppl. 2023 Oct 1;61(33):1-108.
- Leopold D. Distortion of Olfactory Perception: Diagnosis and Treatment. Chem Senses. 2002;27(7):611–5.
- Jafek BW, Murrow B, Michaels R, Restrepo D, Linschoten M. Biopsies of Human Olfactory Epithelium. Chem Senses. 2002;27(7):623–8.
- Lane AP, Turner J, May L, Reed R. A Genetic Model of Chronic Rhinosinusitis-Associated Olfactory Inflammation Reveals Reversible Functional Impairment and Dramatic Neuroepithelial Reorganization. J Neurosci. 2010;30(6):2324–9.
- Pozharskaya T, Liang J, Lane AP. Regulation of inflammation-associated olfactory neuronal death and regeneration by the type II tumor necrosis factor receptor. Int Forum Allergy Rhinol. 2013;3(9):740–7.
- Gudziol V, Hummel T. Effects of Pentoxifylline on Olfactory Sensitivity. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 2009;135(3):291–5.
- 49. Han P, Whitcroft KL, Fischer J, et al. Olfactory brain gray matter volume reduction in patients with chronic rhinosinusitis. Int Forum Allergy Rhinol. 2017;2–7.
- 50. Rombaux P, Potier H, Bertrand B, Duprez T, Hummel T. Olfactory bulb volume in

patients with sinonasal disease. Am J Rhinol. 2008;22:598–601.

- Yamagishi M, Fujiwara M, Nakamura H. Olfactory mucosal findings and clinical course in patients with olfactory disorders following upper respiratory viral infection. Rhinology. 1994;32(3):113–8.
- Boscolo-Rizzo P, Tofanelli M, Zanelli E, Gardenal N, Tirelli G. COVID-19-Related Quantitative and Qualitative Olfactory and Gustatory Dysfunction: Long-Term Prevalence and Recovery Rate. ORL. 2023;85:67–71.
- Reden J, Herting B, Lill K, Kern R, Hummel T. Treatment of postinfectious olfactory disorders with minocycline: A double-blind, placebo-controlled study. Laryngoscope. 2011;121(3):679–82.
- Reden J, Mueller A, Mueller C, et al. Recovery of olfactory function following closed head injury or infections of the upper respiratory tract. Arch Otolaryngol - Head Neck Surg. 2006;132(3):265–9.
- 55. Sumner D. Post-traumatic anosmia. Brain. 1964;(87):107–20.
- Rombaux P, Huart C, Deggouj N, Duprez T, Hummel T. Prognostic Value of Olfactory Bulb Volume Measurement for Recovery in Postinfectious and Posttraumatic Olfactory Loss. Otolaryngol Neck Surg. 2012;147(6):1136–41.
- Coelho DH, Costanzo RM. Posttraumatic olfactory dysfunction. Auris Nasus Larynx. 2016;43(2):137–43.
- Hendricks A. Olfactory dysfunction. Rhinology. 1988;26(4):229–51.
- Mueller CA, Hummel T. Recovery of olfactory function after nine years of post-traumatic anosmia: a case report. J Med Case Rep. 2009;3:9283.
- Hüttenbrink KB, Berberich A, Hummel T. Begutachtung von Riech- und Schmeckstörungen. In: Stoll W, editor. Das neurootologische Gutachten. Stuttgart: Thieme; 2002. p. 71–80.
- Iravani B, Peter MG, Arshamian A, et al. Acquired olfactory loss alters functional connectivity and morphology. Sci Rep. 2021;11(1):1–11.
- Sun Z, Seo JW, Park HJ, et al. Cortical reorganization following auditory deprivation predicts cochlear implant performance in postlingually deaf adults. Hum Brain Mapp. 2021;42(1):233– 44.
- Anderson S, Kraus N. Auditory Training: Evidence for Neural Plasticity in Older Adults. Perspect Hear Hear Disord Res Diagnostics. 2013;17(1):37.
- Doty RL, Shaman P, Dann M. Development of the University of Pennsylvania Smell Identification Test: A Standardized Microencapsulated Test of Olfactory Function. Physiol Behav. 1984;32(3):489–502.
- Wegener B-A, Croy I, Hähner A, Hummel T. Olfactory training with older people. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry. 2018;33(1):212–20.
- Negoias S, Pietsch K, Hummel T. Changes in olfactory bulb volume following lateralized olfactory training. Brain Imaging Behav. 2016;1–8.

- Yousem DM, Geckle RJ, Bilker WB, McKeown DA, Doty RL. MR evaluation of patients with congenital hyposmia or anosmia. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 1996;166(2):439–43.
- Abolmaali ND, Hietschold V, Vogl TJ, Huttenbrink K-B, Hummel T. MR Evaluation in Patients with Isolated Anosmia Since Birth or Early Childhood. Am J Neuroradiol. 2002;23:157–64.
- Yousem DM, Geckle RJ, Bilker WB, McKeown DA, Doty RL. Posttraumatic olfactory dysfunction: MR and clinical evaluation. Am J Neuroradiol. 1996;17(6):1171–9.
- Hsieh JW, Lenoir V, Sipione R, et al. Can MRI predict olfactory loss and improvement in posttraumatic olfactory dysfunction? Rhinology. 2024 Apr 1;62(2):172-182.
- Gudziol V, Buschhüter D, Abolmaali N, Gerber J, Rombaux P, Hummel T. Increasing olfactory bulb volume due to treatment of chronic rhinosinusitis-a longitudinal study. Brain. 2009;132:3096–101.
- Messersmith JJ, Entwisle L, Warren S, Scott M. Clinical practice guidelines: Cochlear implants. J Am Acad Audiol. 2019;30(10):827–44.
- Quimby AE, Venkatesh S, Corsten M, et al. Socioeconomic Status among Cochlear Implant Candidates and Association with Surgical Pursuance. JAMA Otolaryngol - Head Neck Surg. 2023;149(10):891–8.
- Patel ZM, Holbrook EH, Turner JH, et al. International consensus statement on allergy and rhinology: Olfaction. Int Forum Allergy Rhinol. 2022;12(4):327–680.
- Whitcroft KL, Alobid I, Altundag A, et al. International Clinical Assessment of Smell: An International, Cross-Sectional Survey of Current Practice in the Assessment of Olfaction. Clin Otolaryngol. 2024 Mar;49(2):220-234.
- Fokkens WJ, Lund VJ, Hopkins C, et al. Eurpean Position Paper on Rhinosinusitis and Nasal Polyps 2020. Rhinology. 2020;Suppl 29:1–464.
- Orlandi RR, Kingdom TT, Smith TL, et al. International consensus statement on allergy and rhinology: rhinosinusitis 2021. Int Forum Allergy Rhinol. 2021;11(3):213–739.
- Konstantinidis I, Tsakiropoulou E, Constantinidis J. Long term effects of olfactory training in patients with post-infectious olfactory loss. Rhinology. 2016;54(2):170–5.
- 79. Nguyen TP, Patel ZM. Budesonide irrigation with olfactory training improves outcomes compared with olfactory training alone in patients with olfactory loss. Int Forum Allergy Rhinol. 2018;8(9):977–81.
- Yan CH, Overdevest JB, Patel ZM. Therapeutic use of steroids in non-chronic rhinosinusitis olfactory dysfunction: a systematic evidencebased review with recommendations. Int Forum Allergy Rhinol. 2019;9(2):165–76.
- Akgüner M, Barutçu A, Karaca C. Adolescent Growth Patterns of the Bony and Cartilaginous Framework of the Nose: A Cephalometric Study. Ann Plast Surg. 1998;41(1):66–9.
- Fokkens WJ, Lund VJ, Hopkins C, et al. Executive summary of EPOS 2020 including integrated care pathways. Rhinology. 2020;58(2):82–111.

- Fokkens WJ, Harvey R. Management of the Frontal Sinuses. In: Flint P, Francis H, Haughey B, et al., editors. Cummings Otolaryngology. 7th ed. Philadelphia: Elsevier; 2021. p. 719–32.
- 84. Ramakrishnan VR, Bleier BS, Kennedy DW. Causes of Failure, Revision Surgery for Rhinosinusitis, and Management of Complications in Endoscopic Sinus Surgery. In: Flint P, Francis H, Haughey B, et al., editors. Cummings Otolaryngology. 7th ed. Philadelphia: Elsevier; 2021. p. 711–8.
- Sugiyama K, Matsuda T, Kondo H, et al. Postoperative olfaction in chronic sinusitis: Smokers versus nonsmokers. Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol. 2002;111(11):1054–8.
- Utiyama DMO, Yoshida CT, Goto DM, et al. The effects of smoking and smoking cessation on nasal mucociliary clearance, mucus properties and inflammation. Clinics. 2016;71(6):344–50.
- Elwany S, Shewel Y, Bazak R, Talaat I, Elwany M. Quitting smoking reverses nasal mucosal changes. Eur Arch Oto-Rhino-Laryngology. 2020;277(6):1691–8.
- Gunder N, Dörig P, Witt M, Welge-Lüssen A, Menzel S, Hummel T. Future therapeutic strategies for olfactory disorders: electrical stimulation, stem cell therapy, and transplantation of olfactory epithelium—an overview. HNO. 2023;71(October 2022):35–43.
- Althaus J. A Lecture on the Physiology and Pathology of the Olfactory Nerve. Vol. 117, Lancet. 1881. 771–3.
- Aronsohn E. Experimentelle Untersuchungen zur Physiologie des Geruches. In: Archiv für Anatomie und Physiologie. 1886. p. 321.
- 91. Aronsohn E. Über elektrische Geruchsempfindung. Arch für Anat und Physiol. 1884;460–5.
- Uziel A. Stimulation du neuro-épithélium olfactiff chez l'homme par des courants électriques continus de longue durée [Stimulation of human olfactory neuro-epithelium by longterm continuous electrical currents]. J Physiol. 1973;66(4):409–22.
- Straschill M, Stahl H, Gorkisch K. Effects of Electrical Stimulation of the Human Olfactory Mucosa. Stereotact Funct Neurosurg. 1983;46(5–6):286–9.
- 94. Ishimaru T, Shimada T, Makoto S, Miwa T, Kimura Y, Furukawa M. Olfactory evoked potentials produced by electrical stimulation of the olfactory mucosa. Chem Senses. 1997;22(1):77–81.
- Ishimaru T, Miwa T, Shimada T, Furukawa M. Electrically stimulated olfactory evoked potential in olfactory disturbance. Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol. 2002;111(6):518–22.
- Weiss T, Shushan S, Ravia A, et al. From Nose to Brain: Un-Sensed Electrical Currents Applied in the Nose Alter Activity in Deep Brain Structures. Cereb Cortex. 2016;26(11):4180–91.
- Aoyama K, Miyamoto N, Sakurai S, et al. Electrical Generation of Intranasal Irritating Chemosensation. IEEE Access. 2021;9:106714– 24.
- Karunanayaka K, Cheok AD, Vedadi S. Digital Smell: Toward Electrically Reproducing Artificial Smell Sensations. IEEE Access. 2023;11(April):50659–70.

- Holbrook EH, Puram S V., See RB, Tripp AG, Nair DG. Induction of smell through transethmoid electrical stimulation of the olfactory bulb. Int Forum Allergy Rhinol. 2019;9(2):158–64.
- 100. Andy OJ. The amygdala and hippocampus in olfactory aura. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol. 1967;23(3):292.
- 101. Nashold BS, Wilson WP. Olfactory hallucinations evoked from stimulation of human thalamus. Confin Neurol. 1970;32(2):298–306.
- 102. Hummel T, Jahnke U, Sommer U, Reichmann H, Müller A. Olfactory function in patients with idiopathic Parkinson's disease: Effects of deep brain stimulation in the subthalamic nucleus. J Neural Transm. 2005;112(5):669–76.
- 103. Okun MS, Mann G, Foote KD, et al. Deep brain stimulation in the internal capsule and nucleus accumbens region: Responses observed during active and sham programming. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2007;78(3):310–4.
- 104. Fonoff ET, de Oliveira YSA, Driollet S. Pet Findings in Reversible Improvement of Olfactory Dysfunction After STN Stimulation in a Parkinson's Disease Patient. Mov Disord. 2010;25(14):2461–2.
- 105. Kumar G, Juhász C, Sood S, Asano E. Olfactory hallucinations elicited by electrical stimulation via subdural electrodes: Effects of direct stimulation of olfactory bulb and tract. Epilepsy Behav. 2012;24(2):264–8.
- 106. Mazzola L, Royet JP, Catenoix H, Montavont A, Isnard J, Mauguière F. Gustatory and olfactory responses to stimulation of the human insula. Ann Neurol. 2017;82(3):360–70.
- 107. Fox KCR, Yih J, Raccah O, et al. Changes in subjective experience elicited by direct stimulation of the human orbitofrontal cortex. Neurology. 2018;91(16):E1519–27.
- 108. Bérard N, Landis BN, Legrand L, et al. Electrical stimulation of the medial orbitofrontal cortex in humans elicits pleasant olfactory perceptions. Epilepsy Behav. 2021;114.
- 109. Li Y, Tan Z, Wang J, et al. Responses of Chemosensory Perception to Stimulation of the Human Brain. Ann Neurol. 2023;93:175–83.
- 110. Zhang H, Wang D, Wei P, et al. Integrative roles of human amygdala subdivisions: Insight from direct intracerebral stimulations via stereotactic EEG. Hum Brain Mapp. 2023;44(9):3610–23.
- 111. Patel RM, Pinto JM. Olfaction: Anatomy, physiology, and disease. Clin Anat. 2014;27(1):54–60.
- 112. Buck LB. Receptor diversity and spatial patterning in the mammalian olfactory system. In: Chadwick D, Marsh J, Goode J, editors. The Molecular Basis of Smell and Taste Transduction. Chichester: Wiley; 1993. p. 51.
- 113. Lapid H, Shushan S, Plotkin A, et al. Neural activity at the human olfactory epithelium reflects olfactory perception. Nat Neurosci. 2011;14(11):1455–61.
- 114. Bryche B, Baly C, Meunier N. Modulation of olfactory signal detection in the olfactory epithelium: focus on the internal and external environment, and the emerging role of the immune system. Cell Tissue Res. 2021;384(3):589–605.
- 115. Holbrook EH, Wu E, Curry WT, Lin DT, Schwob JE. Immunohistochemical characterization

of human olfactory tissue. Laryngoscope. 2011;121(8):1687-701.

- 116. Fitzek M, Patel PK, Solomon PD, et al. Integrated age-related immunohistological changes occur in human olfactory epithelium and olfactory bulb. J Comp Neurol. 2022;530(12):2154–75.
- 117. Doty RL, Brugger WE, Jurs PC, Orndorff MA, Snyder PJ, Lowry LD. Intranasal trigeminal stimulation from odorous volatiles: Psychometric responses from anosmic and normal humans. Physiol Behav. 1978;20(2):175–85.
- 118. Badran BW, Gruber EM, O'Leary GH, et al. Electrical stimulation of the trigeminal nerve improves olfaction in healthy individuals: A randomized, double-blind, sham-controlled trial. Brain Stimul. 2022;15(3):761–8.
- 119. Brooks J, Teng SY, Wen J, Nith R, Nishida J, Lopes P. Stereo-smell via electrical trigeminal stimulation. Conf Hum Factors Comput Syst -Proc. 2021;
- 120. Cakmak YO, Nazim K, Thomas C, Datta A. Optimized Electrode Placements for Noninvasive Electrical Stimulation of the Olfactory Bulb and Olfactory Mucosa. Front Neurosci. 2020;14(November):1–12.
- 121. Maresh A, Rodriguez Gil D, Whitman MC, Greer CA. Principles of glomerular organization in the human olfactory bulb - Implications for odor processing. PLoS One. 2008;3(7).
- 122. Lane G, Zhou G, Noto T, Zelano C. Assessment of direct knowledge of the human olfactory system. Exp Neurol. 2020;329(January 2019):113304.
- 123. Yan X, Joshi A, Zang Y, Assunção F, Fernandes HM, Hummel T. The Shape of the Olfactory Bulb Predicts Olfactory Function. Brain Sci. 2022;12(2):1–12.
- 124. Buschhüter D, Smitka M, Puschmann S, et al. Correlation between olfactory bulb volume and olfactory function. Neuroimage. 2008;42(2):498–502.
- 125. Coelho DH, Socolovsky LD, Costanzo RM. Activation of the rat olfactory bulb by direct ventral stimulation after nerve transection. Int Forum Allergy Rhinol. 2018;8(8):922–7.
- 126. Coelho DH, Costanzo RM. Spatial mapping in the rat olfactory bulb by odor and direct electrical stimulation. Otolaryngol - Head Neck Surg (United States). 2016;155(3):526–32.
- 127. Jackson JC, Benjamin RM. Unit discharges in the mediodorsal nucleus of the rabbit evoked by electrical stimulation of the olfactory bulb. Brain Res. 1974;75(2):193–201.
- 128. Mouly AM, Vigouroux M, Holley A. On the ability of rats to discriminate between microstimulations of the olfactory bulb in different locations. Behav Brain Res. 1985:17(1):45–58.
- 129. Menzel S, Konstantinidis I, Valentini M, et al. Surgical Approaches for Possible Positions of an Olfactory Implant to Stimulate the Olfactory Bulb. ORL. 2023;85(5):253–63.
- 130. Benkhatar H, Loubieres C, Kada AR, De Malherbe M, Meunier N. Midline olfactory implantation: a cadaveric study of endoscopic transseptal transcribriform approach. Rhinology. 2022;60(2):145–7.
- 131. Sterlin T, Saeedi A, Coelho DH. The Supraorbital

Keyhole Approach to the Olfactory Bulb: A Radiology Feasibility Study. In: American Academy of Otolaryngology – Head & Neck Surgery. 2024.

- 132. Mai Y, Vogel C, Thiele J, Hölscher T, Hummel T. Abnormal visual and olfactory sensations during radiation therapy: a prospective study. Strahlentherapie und Onkol. 2023;199(10):936– 49.
- 133. Najib U, Bashir S, Edwards D, Rotenberg A, Pascual-Leone A. Transcranial Brain Stimulation: Clinical Applications and Future Directions. Neurosurg Clin N Am. 2011;22(2):233–ix.
- 134. Fregni F, Pascual-Leone A. Technology Insight: Noninvasive brain stimulation in neurology - Perspectives on the therapeutic potential of rTMS and tDCS. Nat Clin Pract Neurol. 2007;3(7):383–93.
- 135. Shiozawa P, Fregni F, Bensenor IM, et al. Transcranial direct current stimulation for major depression: an updated systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol. 2014;17:1443–1452.
- 136. Chari A, Sedlacik J, Seunarine K, et al. Epileptogenic Tubers Are Associated with Increased Kurtosis of Susceptibility Values: A Combined Quantitative Susceptibility Mapping and Stereoelectroencephalography Pilot Study. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol. 2023;44:974–982.
- 137. Chen S, Chen Y, Zhang Y, et al. Iron Metabolism and Ferroptosis in Epilepsy. Front Neurosci. 2020;14:601193.
- 138. Sharma V, Babu PP, Singh A, Singh S, Singh R. Iron-induced experimental cortical seizures: electroencephalographic mapping of seizure spread in the subcortical brain areas. Seizure. 2007;16:680–690.
- 139. Vaughan DN, Jackson GD. The piriform cortex and human focal epilepsy. Front Neurol. 2014;5:259.
- 140. Borger V, Hamed M, Bahna M, et al. Temporal lobe epilepsy surgery: Piriform cortex resection impacts seizure control in the long-term. Ann Clin Transl Neurol. 2022;9:1206–1211.
- 141. Goncalves Pereira PM, Insausti R, Artacho-Perula E, Salmenpera T, Kalviainen R, Pitkanen A. MR volumetric analysis of the piriform cortex and cortical amygdala in drug-refractory temporal lobe epilepsy. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol. 2005;26:319–332.
- 142. Young JC, Vaughan DN, Paolini AG, Jackson GD. Electrical stimulation of the piriform cortex for the treatment of epilepsy: A review of the supporting evidence. Epilepsy Behav. 2018;88:152–61.
- 143. Oxley TJ, Opie NL, John SE, et al. Minimally invasive endovascular stent-electrode array for high-fidelity, chronic recordings of cortical neural activity. Nat Biotechnol. 2016;34:320– 327.
- 144. Oldroyd P, Malliaras GG. Achieving long-term stability of thin-film electrodes for neurostimulation. Acta Biomater. 2022;139:65–81.
- 145. Merrill DR, Bikson M, Jefferys JGR. Electrical stimulation of excitable tissue: Design of efficacious and safe protocols. J Neurosci Methods.

2005;141(2):171-98.

- 146. Mariello M, Kim K, Wu K, Lacour SP, Leterrier Y. Recent Advances in Encapsulation of Flexible Bioelectronic Implants: Materials, Technologies, and Characterization Methods. Adv Mater. 2022;34(34).
- 147. Kozai TDY, Jaquins-Gerstl AS, Vazquez AL, Michael AC, Cui XT. Brain tissue responses to neural implants impact signal sensitivity and intervention strategies. ACS Chem Neurosci. 2015;6(1):48–67.
- 148. Khan ZM, Wilts E, Vlaisavljevich E, Long TE, Verbridge SS. Electroresponsive Hydrogels for Therapeutic Applications in the Brain. Macromol Biosci. 2022;22(2).
- 149. Zhao ET, Hull JM, Hemed NM, et al. A CMOSbased highly scalable flexible neural electrode interface. Sci Adv. 2023;9(23).
- Hassler C, Boretius T, Stieglitz T. Polymers for neural implants. J Polym Sci Part B Polym Phys. 2011;49(1):18–33.
- 151. Fattahi P, Yang G, Kim G, Abidian MR. A review of organic and inorganic biomaterials for neural interfaces. Adv Mater. 2014;26(12):1846–85.
- 152. Szostak KM, Grand L, Constandinou TG. Neural interfaces for intracortical recording: Requirements, fabrication methods, and characteristics. Front Neurosci. 2017;11(DEC).
- 153. Lee K, Massia S, He J. Biocompatible benzocyclobutene-based intracortical neural implant with surface modification. J Micromechanics Microengineering. 2005;15(11):2149–55.
- 154. Lacour S, Courtine G, Guck J. Materials and technologies for soft implantable neuroprostheses. Nat Rev Mater. 2016;1:16063
- 155. Vomero M, Ciarpella F, Zucchini E, et al. On the longevity of flexible neural interfaces: Establishing biostability of polyimidebased intracortical implants. Biomaterials. 2022;281:121372.
- 156. Böhler C, Vomero M, Soula M, et al. Multilayer Arrays for Neurotechnology Applications (MANTA): Chronically Stable Thin-Film Intracortical Implants. Adv Sci. 2023;10(14).
- 157. Cho Y, Park S, Lee J, Yu KJ. Emerging Materials and Technologies with Applications in Flexible Neural Implants: A Comprehensive Review of Current Issues with Neural Devices. Adv Mater. 2021;33(47).
- 158. Lewis CM, Boehler C, Liljemalm R, Fries P, Stieglitz T, Asplund M. Recording Quality Is Systematically Related to Electrode Impedance. Adv Healthc Mater. 2024;2303401:1–14.
- 159. Londoño-Ramírez H, Huang X, Cools J, et al. Multiplexed Surface Electrode Arrays Based on Metal Oxide Thin-Film Electronics for High-Resolution Cortical Mapping. Adv Sci. 2024;11(10):1–18.
- 160. Mori K. Olfactory Bulb Mapping. Squire LR, editor. Encyclopedia of Neuroscience. Academic Press; 2009. 71–75 p.
- Parastarfeizabadi M, Kouzani AZ. Advances in closed-loop deep brain stimulation devices. J Neuroeng Rehabil. 2017;14:79.
- 162. Gupta P, Balasubramaniam N, Chang H-Y, Tseng F-G, Santra TS. A Single-Neuron: Current Trends and Future Prospects. Cells.

2020;9:1528.

- 163. Thut G, Miniussi C, Gross J. The functional importance of rhythmic activity in the brain. Curr Biol [Internet]. 2012;22(16):R658–63.
- 164. Russo MA, Santarelli DM, O'Rourke D. The physiological effects of slow breathing in the healthy human. Breathe. 2017;13(4):298–309.
- 165. Yang Q, Zhou G, Noto T, et al. Smell-induced gamma oscillations in human olfactory cortex are required for accurate perception of odor identity. PLoS Biol. 2022;20(1):1–30.
- 166. Zelano C, Jiang H, Zhou G, et al. Nasal respiration entrains human limbic oscillations and modulates cognitive function. J Neurosci. 2016;36(49):12448–67.
- 167. Masaoka Y, Harding IH, Koiwa N, et al. The neural cascade of olfactory processing: A combined fMRI-EEG study. Respir Physiol Neurobiol. 2014;204:71–7
- 168. Arnold TC, You Y, Ding M, Zuo XN, de Araujo I, Li W. Functional connectome analyses reveal the human olfactory network organization. eNeuro. 2020;7(4):1–14.
- 169. Karunanayaka P, Eslinger PJ, Wang JL, et al. Networks involved in olfaction and their dynamics using independent component analysis and unified structural equation modeling. Hum Brain Mapp. 2014;35(5):2055–72.
- 170. Cavazzana A, Poletti SC, Guducu C, Larsson M, Hummel T. Electro-olfactogram Responses Before and After Aversive Olfactory Conditioning in Humans. Neuroscience. 2018;373:199–206.
- 171. Martinez S, Veirano F, Constandinou TG, Silveira F. Trends in Volumetric-Energy Efficiency of Implantable Neurostimulators: A Review From a Circuits and Systems Perspective. IEEE Trans Biomed Circuits Syst. 2023;17(1):2–20.
- 172. Beauchamp TL, Childress JF. Principles of Bioethics. 7th ed. Oxford University Press; 2013.
- 173. Lane FJ, Nitsch K, Huyck M, Troyk P, Schug K. Perspectives of optic nerve prostheses. Disabil Rehabil Assist Technol. 2016;11(4):301–9.
- 174. Hansson SO. The Ethics of Cranial Nerve Implants. Otolaryngol Clin North Am. 2020;53(1):21–30.
- 175. Pycroft L, Aziz TZ. Security of implantable medical devices with wireless connections: The dangers of cyber-attacks. Expert Rev Med Devices. 2018;15(6):403–6.
- 176. Schuh M, Bush ML. Defining Disparities in Cochlear Implantation through the Social Determinants of Health. Semin Hear. 2021;42(4):321–30.
- 177. Hosain MK, Kouzani A, Tye S. Closed loop deep brain stimulation: an evolving technology. Australas Phys Eng Sci Med. 2014;37:619–634.
- 178. Takebayashi S, Hashizume K, Tanaka T, Hodozuka A. The effect of electrical stimulation and lesioning of the anterior thalamic nucleus on kainic acid-induced focal cortical seizure status in rats. Epilepsia. 2007;48:348– 358.
- 179. Toprani S, Durand DM. Long-lasting hyperpolarization underlies seizure reduction by low frequency deep brain electrical stimulation. J Physiol. 2013;591:5765–5790.
- 180. Bayat A, Skopin MD, Joshi S, et al. Effects of

low-frequency electrical stimulation of the anterior piriform cortex on kainate-induced seizures in rats. Epilepsy Behav. 2017;72:1–7.

- 181. Volkmann J, Moro E, Pahwa R. Basic algorithms for the programming of deep brain stimulation in Parkinson's disease. Mov Disord. 2006;21(SUPPL. 14):284–9.
- 182. Gunalan K, Howell B, McIntyre CC. Quantifying axonal responses in patient-specific models of subthalamic deep brain stimulation. Neuroimage. 2018;172:263–77.
- 183. Lempka SF, McIntyre CC, Kilgore KL, Machado AG. Computational Analysis of Kilohertz Frequency Spinal Cord Stimulation for Chronic Pain Management. Anesthesiology. 2015;122(6):1362–76.
- 184. Kirsch AD, Hassin-Baer S, Matthies C, Volkmann J, Steigerwald F. Anodic versus cathodic neurostimulation of the subthalamic nucleus: A randomized-controlled study of acute clinical effects. Park Relat Disord. 2018;55:61–7.
- 185. Anderson DN, Duffley G, Vorwerk J, Dorval AD, Butson CR. Anodic stimulation misunderstood: Preferential activation of fiber orientations with anodic waveforms in deep brain stimulation. J Neural Eng. 2019;16(1).
- 186. Fricke P, Nickl R, Breun M, et al. Directional Leads for Deep Brain Stimulation: Technical Notes and Experiences. Stereotact Funct Neurosurg. 2021;99:305–312.
- 187. Chapelle F, Manciet L, Pereira B, et al. Early Deformation of Deep Brain Stimulation Electrodes Following Surgical Implantation: Intracranial, Brain, and Electrode Mechanics. Front Bioeng Biotechnol. 2021;9:657875.
- 188. Darbin O, Dees D, Lammle M, Naritoku D, Torres-Herman T, Martino A. Computed tomographic method to quantify electrode lead deformation and subdural gap after lead implantation for deep brain stimulation. J Neurosci Methods. 2018;309:55–59.
- 189. Choi KS, Noecker AM, Riva-Posse P, et al. Impact of brain shift on subcallosal cingulate deep brain stimulation. Brain Stimul. 2018;11:445–453.
- 190. Piacentino M, Pilleri M, Bartolomei L. Hardware-related infections after deep brain stimulation surgery: review of incidence, severity and management in 212 single-center procedures in the first year after implantation. Acta Neurochir. 2011;153:2337–2341.
- 191. Jitkritsadakul O, Bhidayasiri R, Kalia SK, Hodaie M, Lozano AM, Fasano A. Systematic review of hardware-related complications of Deep Brain Stimulation: Do new indications pose an increased risk? Brain Stimul. 2017;10:967–976.
- 192. Chan DT, Zhu XL, Yeung JH, et al. Complications of deep brain stimulation: a collective review. Asian J Surg. 2009;32:258–263.
- 193. Fenoy AJ, Simpson Jr RK. Risks of common complications in deep brain stimulation surgery: management and avoidance. J Neurosurg. 2014;120:132–139.
- 194. Oh MY, Abosch A, Kim SH, Lang AE, Lozano AM. Long-term hardware-related complications of deep brain stimulation. Neurosurgery. 2002;50:1268–1274.
- 195. Falowski SM, Ooi YC, Bakay RA. Long-Term

Evaluation of Changes in Operative Technique and Hardware-Related Complications With Deep Brain Stimulation. Neuromodulation. 2015;18:670–677.

- 196. Polanski WH, Klingelhoefer L, Zolal A, et al. Clinical Validation of Quality Improvements Using the Six Sigma Concept: A Case Study for Deep Brain Stimulation in Parkinson's Disease. Stereotact Funct Neurosurg. 2019;97(3):195– 201.
- 197. Von Langsdorff D, Paquis P, Fontaine D. In vivo measurement of the frame-based application accuracy of the Neuromate neurosurgical robot. J Neurosurg. 2015;122:191–194.
- 198. Miranpuri AS, Tome WA, Paliwal BR, Kesslering C, Mehta MP. Assessment of patient-independent intrinsic error for a noninvasive frame for fractionated stereotactic radiotherapy. Int J Cancer, 2001;96:320–325.
- 199. Lamba M, Breneman JC, Warnick RE. Evaluation of image-guided positioning for frameless intracranial radiosurgery. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2009;74:913–919.
- 200. Alptekin O, Gubler FS, Ackermans L, et al. Stereotactic accuracy and frame mounting: A phantom study. Surg Neurol Int. 2019;10:67.
- 201. Alomar S, Mullin JP, Smithason S, Gonzalez-Martinez J. Indications, technique, and safety profile of insular stereoelectroencephalography electrode implantation in medically intractable epilepsy. J Neurosurg. 2018;128:1147– 1157.
- 202. Vismer MS, Forcelli PA, Skopin MD, Gale K, Koubeissi MZ. The piriform, perirhinal, and entorhinal cortex in seizure generation. Front Neural Circuits. 2015;9:27.
- 203. Lundstrom BN, Osman GM, Starnes K, Gregg NM, Simpson HD. Emerging approaches in neurostimulation for epilepsy. Curr Opin Neurol. 2023;36:69–76.
- 204. Wu J, Liu P, Geng C, et al. Principal neurons in the olfactory cortex mediate bidirectional modulation of seizures. J Physiol. 2023;601:3557–3584.
- 205. Kong Q, Sacca V, Zhu M, Ursitti AK, Kong J. Anatomical and Functional Connectivity of Critical Deep Brain Structures and Their Potential Clinical Application in Brain Stimulation. J Clin Med. 2023;12(13):4426.

- 206. Wagner BJ, Schuller CB, Schuller T, et al. Chronic Deep Brain Stimulation of the Human Nucleus Accumbens Region Disrupts the Stability of Intertemporal Preferences. J Neurosci. 2023;43:7175–7185.
- 207. Davidson B, Giacobbe P, George TP, et al. Deep brain stimulation of the nucleus accumbens in the treatment of severe alcohol use disorder: a phase I pilot trial. Mol Psychiatry. 2022;27:3992–4000.
- 208. Douglas D, Thavabalasingam S, Chorghay Z, O'Neil EB, Barense MD, Lee AC. Perception of Impossible Scenes Reveals Differential Hippocampal and Parahippocampal Place Area Contributions to Spatial Coherency. Hippocampus. 2017;27:61–76.
- 209. Van Roost D, Solymosi L, Schramm J, Oosterwyck B, Elger CE. Depth electrode implantation in the length axis of the hippocampus for the presurgical evaluation of medial temporal lobe epilepsy: a computed tomography-based stereotactic insertion technique and its accuracy. Neurosurgery. 1998;43(4):819–827.
- 210. Hampson RE, Song D, Opris I, et al. Facilitation of memory encoding in primate hippocampus by a neuroprosthesis that promotes task-specific neural firing. J Neural Eng. 2013;10:066013.
- 211. Jacobs J, Miller J, Lee SA, et al. Direct Electrical Stimulation of the Human Entorhinal Region and Hippocampus Impairs Memory. Neuron. 2016;92:983–990.
- 212. Gupta K, Dickey AS, Hu R, Faught E, Willie JT. Robot Assisted MRI-Guided LITT of the Anterior, Lateral, and Medial Temporal Lobe for Temporal Lobe Epilepsy. Front Neurol. 2020;11:572334.
- 213. Wang Y, Yang X, Zhang X, Wang Y, Pei W. Implantable intracortical microelectrodes: reviewing the present with a focus on the future. Microsystems Nanoeng. 2023;9(1).
- 214. Schwartz AB, Cui XT, Weber DJJ, Moran DW. Brain-Controlled Interfaces: Movement Restoration with Neural Prosthetics. Neuron. 2006;52(1):205–20.
- 215. Harrison R, Watkins P, Kier R, et al. A low-power integrated circuit for a wireless 100-electrode neural recording system. Dig Tech Pap - IEEE Int Solid-State Circuits Conf. 2007;42(1):123–33.

- 216. Holleman J, Zhang F, Otis B. Ultra Low-Power Integrated Circuit Design for Wireless Neural Interfaces [Internet]. 1st ed. New York: Springer New York, NY; 2010. 1–121 p.
- 217. Perge JA, Homer ML, Malik WQ, et al. Intraday signal instabilities affect decoding performance in an intracortical neural interface system. J Neural Eng. 2013;10(3).
- 218. Steigerwald F, Matthies C, Volkmann J. Directional Deep Brain Stimulation. Neurotherapeutics. 2019;16(1):100–4.
- 219. 219. Caldwell DJ, Ojemann JG, Rao RPN. Direct electrical stimulation in electrocorticographic brain-computer interfaces: Enabling technologies for input to cortex. Front Neurosci. 2019;13(JUL):1–16.
- 220. Song S, Fallegger F, Trouillet A, Kim K, Lacour SP. Deployment of an electrocorticography system with a soft robotic actuator. Extr Math. 2023;8(78):1–12.
- 221. 221. Hettick M, Ho E, Poole AJ, et al. The Layer 7 Cortical Interface: A Scalable and Minimally Invasive Brain–Computer Interface Platform. bioRxiv. 2014;
- 222. Falowski S, Celii A, Sharan A. Spinal Cord Stimulation: An Update. Neurotherapeutics. 2008;5(1):86–99.
- 223. Russell C, Roche AD, Chakrabarty S. Peripheral nerve bionic interface: a review of electrodes. Int J Intell Robot Appl. 2019;3(1):11–8.

224.A

Katherine L. Whitcroft Smell and Taste Clinic Department of Otorhinolaryngology TU Dresden Fetscherstrasse 74 01307 Dresden Germany

Tel: +49-351-458-4189 E-mail: k.whitcroft@gmail.com

Appendix

Appendix 1. More information on deep brain stimulation

DBS

The primary objective of DBS surgery is to achieve precise and accurate placement of each electrode at the intended target location. Common indications include Parkinson's Disease, tremors, dystonia, epilepsy, cluster headache, neuropathic pain, and several psychiatric disorders. The optimal placement of the electrode is determined by the patient's clinical result and their ability to tolerate any unintended consequences that may arise from off-target stimulation.

DBS has been used for the treatment of epilepsy using two different methods: open-loop (application of stimulation for specified periods and thereafter discontinuing it) and closed-loop (system stimulates in response to neural activity [e.g., seizure activity] that can be detected by sensors). These methods may involve either low-frequency stimulation (LFS) ranging from 1 to 10 Hz, or high-frequency stimulation (HFS) exceeding 100 Hz. HFS has been used in both open-loop and closed-loop approaches ^(153,169,170).

LFS elicits a neuromodulatory impact on the tissue (171,172). Increased pulse widths can induce desynchronization in a larger proportion of the neuronal population. The length of stimulation is also influenced by the style of stimulation. In closed-loop stimulations, the duration is typically brief. On the other hand, open-loop stimulations may have a wide range of durations. Common stimulation parameters for DBS in movement disorders satisfactorily include amplitudes between 2 mA and 4 mA, with a frequency between 90 and 210 Hz and pulse duration of 60-90 microseconds. The stimulation is performed continuously without breaks and is biphasic to prevent tissue damage (137) and typically cathodic, meaning the active contact is programmed negative relative to the stimulator casing ⁽¹⁷³⁾. Contacts can be programmed independently or in combination (anodic and cathodic). Adequate amplitude stimulation leads to neuron depolarization, generating an action potential, while subthreshold stimulations can still alter the neurons' own firing rates. The stimulation threshold varies with fibre thickness (174,175). Cathodic stimulation causes depolarization and is more power-efficient, but anodic stimulation, causing local hyperpolarization, has shown better clinical outcomes at the same amplitude ⁽¹⁷⁶⁾. This effect depends on the electrode orientation relative to the stimulated fibres, likely because anodic stimulation predominantly excites orthogonal nerve fibres, while cathodic stimulation modulates longitudinally running fibres (177).

Although electrode placement is very precise, side effects may arise from the spread of current to neighbouring fibres or nuclei.

Directional electrodes have been particularly designed to regulate the intensity of stimulation depending on the spatial position inside the target region using longitudinal and transversal current steering orientations. This feature may help reduce the aforementioned impact on surrounding structures (178). The DBS electrode consists of a flexible polymer fibre that contains a semi-rigid retractable metallic stylet. The conductor wires are embedded into the fibre wall (179). Although the distortion of the inserted electrodes is minimal, it can be seen on postoperative imaging. One of the factors contributing to the difference between targeted and real location of the electrode can be due to brain shift ⁽¹⁸⁰⁾. In practice, deep electrodes are not sensitive to brain shift, due to "neighbouring structures". In contrast, cortical electrodes are more prone to error due to brain shifting ⁽¹⁸¹⁾. Most of the morbidity associated with DBS may be attributed to: 1) problems with the treatment itself, 2) hardware issues, and 3) stimulation complications. Complications associated with hardware include infections and erosion, electrode migration, hardware malfunction/breakdown, and electrical component failure. The prevailing rates of infection in individuals with chronic DBS vary from 5% to 10% (182,183). The incidence of hardwarerelated complications per electrode-year were found to be 8.4% 2 decades ago (2002, 2009) (184-187) and are nowadays better, due to technical improvement (185). Recent research has shown a significant improvement in the precision of DBS electrode placement with the use of image guidance for direct anatomical targeting ⁽¹⁸⁸⁾ and the use intraoperative imaging for correct placement confirmation. It is important to acknowledge that the precision of DBS surgery may be influenced by many variables, including the specific stereotactic system used, the proximity of the electrode trajectory to the ventricle, and the existence of intracranial air. The present stereotactic frames, which are surgical instruments used for the insertion of electrodes, together with robotized systems, often exhibit an inherent average geometrical inaccuracy of around 1 mm (189-192).

Specific targets

• Orbitofrontal cortex: SEEG electrodes are suitable for exploration of the OFC. They are equipped with electrode connections capable of spanning from the lateral cortical convexity to the medial cortex. However, it is difficult to achieve precise placement with such electrodes, which may affect subsequent stimulation efficacy/specificity. For chronic stimulation, DBS may be considered.

• Insula: Implantation of an electrode into the insula has been

shown to be a safe procedure. When the hypothesis indicates opercular participation, orthogonal electrodes are implanted. However, oblique electrodes provide a greater sampling rate of the insular region ⁽¹⁹³⁾.

• Piriform Cortex: The PC is involved in epilepsy, particularly in cases of mesial temporal lobe epilepsy (TLE) where unpleasant olfactory auras can occur ^(194–196). It is comparatively small, and its curved shape makes it challenging to achieve precise implantation of an electrode in the central area between the frontal and temporal regions ^(131–134). Because of its curved shape, the thickness of the PC is reduced to only 1–2 mm ⁽¹³³⁾. Additionally, the location of the middle cerebral artery introduces a possible complication of electrode implantation ⁽¹³⁵⁾.

• Amygdala: The precise magnitude of electrical current propagation originating from the electrodes and its interaction with cerebral architecture remains uncertain, representing a significant constraint on the efficacy or specificity of electrical brain stimulation. To address the possible adverse effects of amygdala stimulation, it is essential for forthcoming research to concentrate on precise electrode placement and stimulation settings that may selectively influence sub-nuclei within the amygdala. • Nucleus Accumbens: The potential therapeutic use of DBS targeting the NAc is being investigated in the context of refractory psychiatric conditions, including obsessive-compulsive disorder, major depressive disorder, and substance use disorder ^(197,198). Davidson et al. placed electrodes in the NAc around 2.5 mm anterior and 4 mm ventral to the anterior boundary of the anterior commissure ⁽¹⁹⁹⁾.

• Medial temporal lobe: The medial temporal lobe is a crucial component in the process of recording episodic memories that include many forms of spatial and temporal information and is vulnerable to aging and Alzheimer's disease ⁽²⁰⁰⁾. The electrodes are typically implanted orthogonally through the middle temporal structures in the medial temporal lobe ⁽²⁰¹⁻²⁰⁴⁾.

Appendix 2. Brain stimulation devices

A. Intracortical Microelectrodes

Intracortical microelectrodes are electrodes placed along the shaft of small needles placed in an array configuration that penetrate in the cortex ⁽²⁰⁵⁾. The needles are typically fabricated out of silicon and the length of the needles is limited to reach shallow layers of neurons in the cortex. This type of electrode can have a large resolution - to the extent of recording single action potentials (AP) of neurons - but its use is limited by the damage done to the tissue due to the number of penetrating needles and their stiffness. Due to their high spatial resolution (up to 0.2 mm) ⁽²⁰⁶⁾, APs are excellent candidates as biomarkers for stimulation devices. Extracellularly recorded typical APs can reach amplitudes up to $500\mu V^{(207)}$, with varying frequencies (208). But there are known firing rate instabilities in intracortical neural interfaces. Unaddressed instabilities can impair performance by introducing biases in decoded movements. Therefore, recalibration processes are necessary to maintain the stability of the feedback signal ⁽²⁰⁹⁾. Furthermore, neural tissues are highly viscoelastic and soft, contrasting sharply with the traditionally rigid materials used in neural implants. This mismatch can lead to poor integration, inflammation, and ultimately, diminished efficacy of these implants. Therefore, the development of new, softer materials is important, that mimic the mechanical properties of neural tissues to enhance integration and reduce adverse reactions (146). The type of device used nowadays is usually implanted for less than 30 days but can be used for chronic implantation through Investigational Device Exemptions.

B. Depth electrode

Depth electrodes are centimetre-long arrays with electrodes placed along their length, typically used for sEEG and for DBS. While the first type is used on the short term and is approved for less than 30 days implantations, DBS systems are approved for chronic stimulation. DBS systems comprise a signal generator implanted in the chest or abdomen of the patients and are used, for the treatment of chronic movement disorders like Parkinson's Disease, essential tremor or dystonia, or psychiatric disorders like depression or obsessive-compulsive disorder. The electrodes typically used have between 4 and 8 contacts. They are made of platinum-iridium and are 1.5mm in length, separated by insulating material ranging from 0.5mm to 1.5mm. To create a more complex and directional stimulation field, axially divided contacts have been developed and implemented in clinical practice ⁽²¹⁰⁾.

C. Electrocorticography

ECoG is performed by placing electrodes on the surface of the cortex and is generally meant for recording brain signals, but it can also be used for temporary stimulation ⁽²¹¹⁾. It requires a surgical procedure for placement and devices available on the market are only approved for short term or intraoperative stimulation. While ECoG's applications are currently limited to the brain's surface, it is of great interest to develop highly flexible and compliant devices providing access to sulci (folds) of the brain ⁽¹⁴⁶⁾. Companies such as Neurosoft Bioelectronics (https://

neurosoft-bio.com/technology), Wise (https://wiseneuro.com/), InBrain Neuroelectronics (https://inbrain-neuroelectronics. com/), Blackrock Neurotech (https://blackrockneurotech.com/), CorTec (https://www.cortec-neuro.com/) and others, are at the forefront of developing these soft and flexible implants for routine clinical use. Traditional ECoG placement requires a craniotomy, a large skull opening matching the size of the array. To limit the surgical invasiveness, research is exploring the minimally invasive deployment/insertion of ECoG arrays through a burr hole (~ 1cm²) or a slit (length based on the implant's size and ~ 800 µm in width) using fluidic pressure ⁽²¹²⁾ or a stiff guide ⁽²¹³⁾ for deployment and insertion, respectively.

Nerve stimulation devices

Because the OB has the shape of a high aspect ratio cylinder, in this respect it resembles peripheral nerves. Peripheral nerve stimulation and spinal cord stimulation devices benefit from years of development of electrical interfaces for both recording and stimulation ^(214,215) that could be thought to be adapted to the OB. As for the neural implants, most of these are meant for short-term implantation or for animal research, but some of these devices have made it to the market for chronic implantation, such as for sacral nerve (for bladder and bowel problems), vagal nerve (to treat epilepsy and depression) or hypoglossal nerve (to treat sleep apnoea) stimulation. The least invasive version of nerve electrical interfaces is commonly referred to as cuff electrodes. Cuff electrodes could be of particular interest to stimulate the OB because - as their name indicates - they are capable of wrapping around the target nerve: with electrodes placed on the inside surface of the device ensuring a good contact with the nerve around its whole perimeter. Typical cuff electrodes however only comprise a few contacts, even though MicroProbes (Gaithersburg, MD, USA) for example proposes cuff electrodes for nerve diameters from 5 mm down to 56 μm and with flexibility on cuff length, number of contacts and their arrangement, such as 24 electrical contacts distributed along the perimeter of different rings as illustrated in Figure 5. The electrodes are in hundreds of µm thick for stimulation, illustrating the requirement for thick electrodes when voltages are applied to electrodes in saline environments.



Figure 5. Illustration of a cuff electrode proposed by MicroProbes (permission to publish by MicroProbes, Gaithersburg, MD, USA).

CONTENT

Abstract	3
Abbreviations	5
Summary of statements	6
Introduction	8
What: a brief introduction to olfactory implants	9
Why: broad aims of olfactory implantation	10
Overview of document	10
Methodology	11
Olfactory implantation: clinical considerations and patient candidacy	11
Background: what is olfaction and olfactory dysfunction	11
The ideal patient for olfactory implantation	12
Diagnosis of olfactory dysfunction and pre-implantation assessment	15
Imaging	15
Treatment of olfactory dysfunction prior to consideration of olfactory implantation	15
Pre-implantation counselling	16
Pre-operative assessment and possible contraindications	16
Operative risks	17
Post-implantation	17
Implants and stimulation: technology, techniques and potential pitfalls	19
Stimulation targets	19
Which electrodes?	25
Where to place an energy source	27
Ethics of olfactory implantation	28
Conclusions	29
References	31
Appendices	36
Appendix 1. More information on deep brain stimulation	36
Appendix 2. Brain stimulation devices	37